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Auditor General of South Africa
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Department of Trade and Industry
Eastern Cape Provincial Arts & Culture Council
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South African Film and Television Awards
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Treasury Regulations
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INTRODUCTION
The National Film and Video Foundation (NFVF) is 

pleased to present its annual report on the programmes 

that were implemented in the 2018/19 financial year in 

which two significant events occurred. Firstly, Council 

is pleased to announce that the implementation of 

the findings of the forensic report commissioned 

by Honourable Minister of Arts and Culture, Nathi 

Mthethwa, was fully implemented and a total of  

R190 876.50 was recovered from those implicated in 

this and other investigations.

Secondly, the implementation of the newly approved 

organisational design that sought to align the 

organisational structure with strategy, was also 

implemented. The NFVF Council wishes to thank Mr. 

Shadrack Bokaba in this regard, for not only leading 

the implementation processes above but for also 

providing stability and leadership during his tenure as 

the Acting Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 

Council is also pleased to announce the appointment of 

Ms. Makhosazana Khanyile as its CEO, as of April 2019. 

The NFVF is confident that she will take the institution 

to greater heights and position the South African film 

industry as a key player on the global stage.

TRANSFORMATION IN THE SOUTH AFRICAN 
AUDIO-VISUAL INDUSTRY
Industry Transformation and Gender Equality remain a 

priority of the NFVF, Section 3(e) of the NFVF act 73 of 

1997 specifically mandates the NFVF to address historical 

imbalances in the infrastructure and distribution of skills 

and resources. The audio-visual industry is an important 

driver and contributor to the transformation agenda.

While the South African audio-visual industry 

is renowned for its experienced technical crew 

(especially for servicing international productions and 

co-productions), previously disadvantaged individuals 

(PDIs), in particular, black companies, are still unable 

to play effectively in this industry. This is one matter 

that we need to pursue vigorously to ensure that the 

playing field is levelled.

STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS/ 
PARTNERSHIPS AND AFRICA FOCUS
The NFVF has continued to strengthen partnerships with 

various stakeholders. These partnerships were enhanced 

through a range of activities and brand activations during 

various film festivals and joint programmes.

The NFVF’s strategy to collaborate with and influence 

relevant stakeholders was highly successful. These 

included national, regional, provincial and local structures 

as well as some continental and international bodies.

The following MOUs are amongst others that were 

signed as a result:
 • Agreement signed with the IDC to initiate the 

Emerging Black Filmmakers Transformation Fund 
which entails the development and film financing 
of feature films created by black South African 
filmmakers.

 • Agreement signed with the Festival Pan-African des 
Cinema et la Television de Ouagadougou (FESPACO) 
to jointly work on the general promotion of African 
cinema.

 • Agreement signed with Imagine Institute of 
Ouagadougou in Burkina Faso to facilitate the training 
of young South African filmmakers across different 
disciplines as well as animation and research.

 • Agreement signed with the Canada Media Fund for 
the co-development incentive. The incentive is meant 
to assist South Africa and Canadian producers in  co-
developing television projects  in the genre of drama, 

documentary, children, and youth.

3.FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON 
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INFRASTRUCTURE DEVELOPMENT
The NFVF’s strategic goal is to increase access to 

production facilities. One of the key deliverables was to 

identify and establish at least one (1) film hub site. This 

objective has been achieved through partnering with 

the Eastern Cape Development Corporation and the 

Cortex Hub. This will furthermore help to leverage the 

film industry in the Eastern Cape. The lease agreement 

has been signed and the building has been handed 

over to the NFVF.

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
I would like to acknowledge the support given to 

the NFVF as well as the film industry by Honourable 

Minister Nathi Mthethwa and the entire Department 

of Sports, Arts and Culture. Without the support of 

the DSAC, the achievements we have realised in the 

industry would not be possible. My heartfelt thanks 

also go to the Director-General, Mr. Vusi Mkhize and 

his team for their efforts and support. I would like to 

extend gratitude to my fellow Council Members and 

various NFVF Council Sub-Committees who have 

committed to serving the local film industry.

In the current environment, the role of Council Members 

is demanding, but their energetic commitment has been 

exemplary. I would also like to thank the new CEO, her 

management team and staff for their commitment to 

the industry, an industry that is constantly evolving and 

requiring new ways of doing things. Let us embrace the 

fact that while we are faced with industry challenges 

and needs, this is an opportune time to be innovative 

and incorporate new ways of serving the industry. 

CONCLUSION
In the financial year 2019/20, we will continue to play a 

leading role in the growth of our industry, addressing 

the needs of stakeholders and the broader film 

community. The NFVF is committed to developing 

and growing the industry, through production and 

development, policy and research, funding and 

governance. I would like to assure the industry that we 

will continue to implement our strategic priorities with 

integrity by working towards improving the quality of 

life for ordinary South Africans.

Yours faithfully,

_______________

Mr. Phillip Molefe
Chairperson of Council
National Film and Video Foundation
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MR PHILLIP MOLEFE
Chairperson: NFVF Council
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The Financial Year 2018/19 has been a very busy one 

for the South African film industry both in terms of 

activities and growth. Some of the highlights included 

the following:

FILM ACTIVITIES WITHIN BRICS 
COUNTRIES
South Africa hosted the 3rd BRICS Film Festival in 

Durban which was hailed as successful, followed by 

the BRICS Culture Ministers’ Summit held at Maropeng 

in October 2018. Both gatherings affirmed the role 

of the film industry within the BRICS nations and the 

gatherings agreed to continue with film initiatives as 

a key platform to showcase, promote and develop 

the film industry through the expansion of people-to-

people exchanges.

Furthermore, the NFVF formed part of the delegation 

that accompanied Honourable Minister Nathi Mthethwa 

to Brazil in September, where the two countries signed 

the Audiovisual Co-Production Treaty on 13 September 

2018. This signing opens up a possibility for the two 

countries to set up a joint funding programme to 

encourage more co-productions, amongst others.

NATIONAL FILM SUMMIT
The NFVF formed part of the Film Summit hosted 

by Honourable Minister Nathi Mthethwa. The summit 

attracted over 900 delegates from the audiovisual 

industry, government stakeholders and members of the 

media. The theme for the summit was Transformation 

and Innovation in the South African Film/Audiovisual 

Industry and the 4th Industrial Revolution. This theme 

allowed delegates to explore critical factors that 

distinctly positions and brands the South African film 

industry within the global context. Delegates resolved 

to meet annually and that the NFVF will play a critical 

role in the implementation of the resolutions taken.

AFRICA FOCUS
The NFVF is pleased that a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MoU) was signed with Burkina Faso’s 

two well-known and established film institutions 

including the flagship Pan-African film festival, 

FESPACO, as well as the Imagine Institute. The signing 

ceremonies  took place during the 50th anniversary 

FESPACO celebrations that took place during the 

year under review. The MOU between the NFVF and 

Namibia was finally put through the co-production of 

two short films under the youth filmmaker project.

FUNDING
Some of the resolutions taken at the Film Summit 

include that the NFVF should be more adequately 

funded and that Sections 12 (O) and 12 (J) of the tax 

requirements should be collapsed to stimulate private 

investment. The NFVF has been looking into alternative 

means to generate additional revenue streams and 

explore new ways to raise additional funds. Despite 

these challenges, the NFVF has been able to deliver in 

all key areas of the 2018/19 Annual Performance Plan. 

Below are some of the highlights of the 2018/19 annual 

performance plan deliverables:

 • The NFVF provided financial support to filmmakers 

and distributors to promote South African 

products and services at film markets and festivals 

with a special focus on animation, digital and new 

technologies. In the 2014/15 financial year, fifty 

(50) filmmakers were recorded to have received 

funding for both local and international markets. 

This increased to one hundred and four (104) in 

the 2018/19 financial year.

 • A significant increase in funding  short films (fiction) 

was recorded over the years as follows: three 

(3) projects were funded in 2014/15 and these 

4. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S OVERVIEW
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was conducted by two hundred and fifty (250) 

independent industry experts with categories 

increasing from seventy-nine (79) to ninety-two 

(92), excluding the four (4) discretionary awards 

which were selected through a public nominations 

process. In total, four hundred and eighteen (418) 

entries were received for SAFTAs 13.

I would like to thank all our partners, including the 

Culture, Arts and Traditional Affairs - North West 

Provincial Government (CATA), Mc Café, Ster-Kinekor, 

Sun International, industry stakeholders and the public 

for their commitment in celebrating and rewarding 

South African creatives for their  excellence in the film 

and television industry.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
I would like to acknowledge the role played by the 

executive team and the entire staff, without whose 

support, the tasks above would have been impossible. 

I would further like to acknowledge the NFVF Council 

for their support throughout the year!

Yours faithfully, 

___________________ 

Mr. Shadrack Bokaba
Acting-Chief Executive Officer 
National Film and Video Foundation

numbers increased to twenty six (26) funded 

projects in 2018/19. Similarly, a significant growth in 

funding for feature-length and documentary films 

was also recorded.

 • The Canada Media Fund (CMF) and the NFVF 

renewed an agreement to establish a dedicated 

incentive over three years for the co-development 

of television projects between Canadian and South 

African producers. The total amount committed 

to this incentive programme is  CAD$120,000 or 

ZAR1,200,000 with each funding organisation 

contributing half of the funds.

 • The NFVF signed a Memorandum of Understanding 

(MOU) with the Industrial Development Corporation 

(IDC) for the Emerging Black Filmmakers 

Transformation Fund (EBFTF). This fund is aimed 

at supporting filmmakers who have developed 

and produced 1-2 feature films, television fiction or 

documentaries for theatrical release or television 

broadcast with limited experience.

 • There was an increase in the number of bursaries 

awarded in this financial year in review and this 

was made possible by the  Media, Information, 

Communication and Technology Seta (MICT Seta). 

The NFVF was able to fund 127 student bursaries 

which is an overwhelming achievement against the 

set target of 60. 

 • This past financial year saw South African films 

receiving nominations from prestigious events 

such as the Hot Docs Film Festival, the Durban 

International Film Festival (DIFF), the Toronto 

International Film Festival (TIFF), International 

Emmy’s and the Berlin International Film Festival 

(Berlinale).

 • The 13th Annual South African Film and Television 

Awards (SAFTAs 13) were hosted under the theme 

‘Dare to Dream’, and proved to be a resounding 

success. The SAFTAs adjudication process 
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MR SHADRACK BOKABA
Acting NFVF CEO
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following: 

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report are consistent with 

the Annual Financial Statements audited by the Auditor General.

The Annual Report is complete, accurate and is free from any omissions.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the 

Annual Report as issued by the National Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with 

the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) applicable 

to the NFVF.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the Annual 

Financial Statements and for the judgements made in this information.  

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing, and implementing 

a system of internal control which has been designed to provide reasonable 

assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the 

human resources information and the annual financial statements.

The External Auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the 

Annual Financial Statements. 

In our opinion, the Annual Report fairly reflects the operations, the performance 

information, the human resources information and the financial affairs of the 

public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Yours faithfully,

5. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND    
    CONFIRMATION OF ACCURACY FOR  
    THE ANNUAL REPORT

__________________ 

Mr. Shadrack Bokaba
Acting-Chief Executive Officer 
National Film and Video Foundation
31 July 2019

__________________  

Mr. Phillip Molefe
Chairperson of NFVF Council
National Film and Video Foundation
31 July 2019

NFVF ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019
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6.1 VISION
A leader towards a sustainable and diverse audio-

visual industry.

6.2 MISSION
To collaborate with all stakeholders to enable the 

development and promotion of a transformed and 

thriving audio-visual industry.

6.3 VALUES
 • Creativity

 • Freedom of expression

 • Entrepreneurship

 • Equitable redress

 • Collaboration

6.4 STRATEGIC OUTCOME  
ORIENTATED GOALS
 • Increase the number of people trained in the 

industry, particularly in areas of scarce skills

 • Develop appropriate policy interventions for the 

South African film industry

 • Increase the number of South African films 

produced and PDIs producing them

 • Promote the South African Film Industry locally 

and internationally

 • Fulfil statutory and governance obligations of the 

NFVF as set out in relevant legislation

6. STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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7. LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER 
MANDATES

The National Film and Video Foundation (NFVF) is a 

Schedule 3A Public Entity in terms of the PFMA. The 

NFVF is governed by the National Film and Video 

Foundation Act 73 of 1997 as amended by the Cultural 

Laws Amendment Act 36 of 2001. 

The mandate of the NFVF, as set out in Section 3 of 

the NFVF Act is:

 • To promote and develop the film and video 

industry 

 • To provide and encourage the provision of 

opportunities for persons, especially from 

disadvantaged communities, to get involved in the 

film and video industry

 • To encourage the development and distribution of 

local film and video products

 • To support the nurturing and development of and 

access to the film and video industry

 • To address historical imbalances in the  

infrastructure and distribution of skills and 

resources in the film and video industry.
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NFVF Management

MAKHOSAZANA KHANYILE 
Chief Executive Officer

JOY MAWELA
HOD Industry Development 

and Promotions

UNATHI MALUNGA
HOD Operations

MBALI BUTHELEZI
Chief Financial Officer
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION  

PART B: 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

As the Chief Executive Officer of the National Film and 

Video Foundation, I am responsible for the preparation 

of the public entity’s performance information and for 

the judgements made in this information.

As the Chief Executive Officer, I am responsible for 

establishing and implementing a system of internal 

control designed to provide reasonable assurance to the 

integrity and reliability of the performance information.

In my opinion, the performance information fairly 

reflects the actual achievements against planned 

objectives, indicators and targets as per the strategic 

and annual performance plan of the public entity for 

the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

The National Film and Video Foundation performance 

information for the year ended 31 March 2019 has been 

examined by the external auditors and their report is 

presented on page 89.

The performance information of the entity set out on 

page 25 to page 64 was approved by the Council.

Yours faithfully,

__________________ 

Mr. Shadrack Bokaba
Acting-Chief Executive Officer 
National Film and Video Foundation

31 July 2019

9. STATEMENT OF  
    RESPONSIBILITY FOR  
    PERFORMANCE 
    INFORMATION
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The Auditor General of South Africa currently performs the necessary 

audit procedures on the performance information to provide reasonable 

assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the 

performance against predetermined objectives is included in the report to 

management, under the Predetermined Objectives heading in the Report 

on other legal and regulatory requirements section of the auditor’s report.

Refer to page 89 of the Annual Report (Auditor’s Report), published in Part 

E: Financial Information.

10. AUDITOR’S REPORT:
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
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11. SITUATIONAL ANALYSIS

11.1 SERVICE DELIVERY ENVIRONMENT

The production and development of content is at the 

core of the work the NFVF engages in. It is where the 

mandate of the organisation is most clearly fulfilled by 

providing the film industry with critical financial support 

and technical expertise to take a film project from an 

idea to a product that can be screened.  

During the period under review, the NFVF approved a 
limited number of projects necessitating that budgets 
be reviewed for a possible increase. The total funding 
approved for development projects decreased by 2% 
from R11 million in 2017/18 to R10 million in 2018/19.

Skills gaps have been identified and in addressing 
skills shortages, The NFVF offers financial support to 
underprivileged students through the bursary scheme. 
The aim of the bursary scheme is to ensure that This is 
to ensure that we build an ecosystem.  The NFVF has 
also partnered with MICT Seta to roll out internships 
for recently graduated learners wanting to acquire 
workplace experience.  

Improved intergovernmental relations and subsequent 
strategic alignment in the implementation of 
programmes, created a collaborative service delivery 
environment and led to greater efficiencies for our 

various stakeholders.

The NFVF has collaborated with international countries 

outside the existing co-production treaties in creating 

opportunities and opening up the co-production 

platform for emerging black filmmakers. 

11.2 ORGANISATIONAL ENVIRONMENT

The year under review saw the implementation of the 

approved organisational design that sought to align 

the organisational structure with strategy. The 3600 

performance management system is still at its optimum 

and both employees and management have seen value in 

the performance system which takes into consideration 

the employee scorecard and the overall organisation 

performance.  As a result of the performance review, 

training needs were identified and executed. 

11.3 KEY POLICY DEVELOPMENTS AND 
LEGISLATIVE CHANGES

The copyright amendment bill, as well as the performers 

protection bill, were also revised by the Department of 

Trade and Industry (DTI).

While the NFVF was of the view that the amendment 

of the copyright act of 1978 was an opportunity 

to align the copyright act in line with international 

best practice, legislation, policy, and technological 

advancement, copyright amendment bill received a 

mixed reception from the industry and the public as a 

whole. As a primary piece of legislation affecting and 

impacting the work of filmmakers and producers of 

audio-visual content, the revision of the bill was long 

overdue and the time had come to overhaul South 

Africa’s archaic copyright regime towards one in which 

the indisputable potential of the industry could be 

tangibly unlocked.

The NFVF has made continuous contributions to the 

Film and Publication Board’s content classification 

guidelines review through its participation in the review 

committee. Notably, the reviewed guidelines propose a 

new classification aimed specifically at Gender-Based 

Violence, the usefulness of the ‘Blasphemy’ guideline, 

as well as prejudice and cultural sensitivity.
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME ORIENTED GOALS

Increase number of people trained in the industry, 
particularly in areas of scarce skills

The film industry is one of the key sectors that can 

provide job creation and economic growth, given the 

labour-intensive nature of film production. However, to 

ensure a sustainable industry that contributes to the 

national economy, an increase in skills development is 

pertinent for growth and development as an upskilled 

labour force directly impacts on the number of local 

film productions. The major skills gaps as identified 

by the NFVF continue to hinder the industry from 

sourcing adequate and alternative financing resources 

and or models to produce films that could perform 

locally and internationally. These gaps are dominant in 

screenwriting, directing and executive producing and 

the NFVF has devised interventions accordingly. 

The NFVF continues to commit itself to comply with the 

national policy of skills development and ensure that 

the industry benefits from resources available to upskill 

itself and build sustainable production companies that 

can contribute to the eradication of unemployment in 

the sector.  The NFVF is also committed to forming 

partnerships with a variety of organisations to ensure 

that industry development is achieved. Particular 

emphasis is placed on grooming young people to 

enter into the industry and for those who are already 

forming a career in film, to secure their longevity in the 

industry by gaining crucial experience.

Develop appropriate policy interventions for the 
industry
The NFVF undertakes an annual review of its policies 
to ensure that inefficiencies are addressed, to align 
with its NFVF strategic objectives and to ensure 
compliance with legislation. Often feedback is received 
from the industry, NFVF staff, internal audit, Council 
committees, and the NFVF’s panel members.

Increase the number of South African films produced 
and PDI’s producing them.

The production and development values have 

improved even though there are still limited funding 

sources available to finance local film budgets.  The 

NFVF is dedicated to building a sustainable industry 

and creating more content by continuing to fund slates 

projects such as documentary, fiction which includes 

animation,  female and youth filmmaker projects.  The 

NFVF continues to create opportunities and open 

up the co-production platform for emerging black 

filmmakers by sourcing additional production funding 

(incentives) outside existing co-production treaties. 

Promote the South African Film Industry locally and 
internationally

Marketing and communications within the NFVF has 
grown in importance and moving  forward will assist 
in shaping conversations and owning the narrative 
of our mandate. Furthermore, our objective is to 
create support for the local film industry by building 
audiences and creating awareness and appreciation 
of South African content. We have seen the success 
at the box office of the many films produced by black 
filmmakers and funded through the NFVF’s marketing 
and distribution.

Under the banner of “igniting our stories”, this financial 
year  was marked by an implementation of the NFVF’s 
global positioning strategy and effective promotion 
of South African films, the South African Film Industry, 
and the NFVF brand both locally and globally.

Every year the NFVF facilitates and guides the 
participation of filmmakers in festivals and markets 

abroad with the following aims:

1. Opening up markets for South African content.

 • To find new markets for the distribution of South

African feature films, documentaries, and television

concepts.
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2. Securing partnerships for co-production.

 • To find new partners to co-produce, co-finance,

distribute and/or sell South African feature films,

documentaries, and television concepts.

 • To explore co-production challenges and

opportunities with countries with whom co-

production treaties exist.

3. Skills exchange and skills development
opportunities.

 • To foster and build relations with institutions for

best practice.

 • To position South African filmmakers in global

platforms aimed at professional and business skills

development.

4. The positioning of the South African Film Industry
as a filmmaking destination and a production
partner.

 • To market South Africa as a preferred filmmaking

destination as well as a co-production partner.

The NFVF continues to deliver on its mandate and 
objectives through various activations at markets and 
film festivals, media and public relations initiatives, 
funding roadshows and stakeholder engagements.

In response to the NFVF mandate and objectives of 
increasing audience access to South African films, 
the NFVF continued to run a series of roadshows and 
activations at various festivals around the country. 

As part of  honouring, celebrating and rewarding talent, 

as well as a drive to create a full circle of interaction 

within the film and television industry, the NFVF 

administers the South African Film & Television Awards 

(SAFTAs) with the mandate to host the awards until 

such time when the South African Film and Television 

Academy is established. Held annually, the SAFTAs 

are now in the thirteenth (13)  year of celebrating local 

talent. 

The SAFTAs are an annual project that is designed to:

 • Reward great quality and excellence within the

South African film and television productions

 • Highlight and profile celebrated South African

talent and product to national and international

markets.

 • Celebrate established and new talent and within

the industry.

 • Encourage entrepreneurship within the South

African Film and Television market.

 • Stimulate participation by a broad mass of the

industry in competitive awards events.

Fulfil statutory and governance obligations of the 
NFVF as set out in relevant legislation

The NFVF has a fully functioning and efficient finance 

department that includes a supply chain management 

function and adheres to the PFMA.  The role of the 

department is to ensure that the NFVF fulfils its 

statutory obligations in terms of the NFVF Act and the 

PFMA and fully meets the needs of its stakeholders.

The NFVF is governed by a Council that is appointed 

in terms of Section 6 of the NFVF Act.  The NFVF also 

has an Audit Committee that assists the Council in 

providing the necessary governance oversight of the 

organisation.
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12. PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
BY PROGRAMME

12.1 PROGRAMME 1: TRAINING AND SKILLS 
DEVELOPMENT 

PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION

Purpose of programme 
Building a sustainable film industry requires rigorous interventions and 
programmes that will eliminate structural impediments such as poor 
education and lack of the required skills.  In addressing skills shortages 
the NFVF offers bursaries to deserving students.  The NFVF has also 
partnered with Media, Information, Communication and Technology Seta 
to roll out internships for recently graduated learners wanting to acquire 
workplace experience.  

The major skills gaps as identified by the NFVF continue to hinder the 
industry from sourcing adequate and alternative financing resources and 
or models to produce films that could perform locally and internationally, 
while providing audiences with engaging yet entertaining content.  These 
gaps are dominant in screenwriting, directing and executive producing.  
To that end, the NFVF continues to intervene through in-house training 
programmes, funding for further studies and international mentorship 
programmes that are aimed mostly at tier 1 filmmakers.

The NFVF continues to commit itself to comply with the national policy of 
skills development, ensuring that the film industry benefits from resources 
available. The aim is to upskill and build sustainable production companies 
that can contribute to the eradication of unemployment in the creative 
industries. The NFVF is also committed to forming partnerships with a 
variety of organisations to ensure that industry development is achieved. 
Particular emphasis is placed on grooming young people to enter into the 
industry and for those who are already forming a career in film, to secure 
their longevity in the industry by gaining crucial experience.

Strategic objectives related to training and skills development:

 • Growth in the number of trained professionals;
 • Increased number of programmes supported;
 • Address industry skills gaps;
 • Encourage skills transfer to PDIs;
 • Learners are recognised for their completion of NFVF training

programmes.
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Training and Development

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2017/2018

Planned 
Target

2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation 
from 

planned 
target to 

Actual 
Achievement 

2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Public 
understanding 
of Arts and 
Culture

To provide 
bursaries to 
tertiary students

128 bursaries 
were 
awarded 

66 bursaries 
awarded per 
annum

151 bursaries 
awarded

85 We received 
additional 
funding from 
MICT-SETA

To provide 
graduates with 
an opportunity to 
gain workplace 
experience 

120 interns 
were placed 

Place 30 
interns per 
annum 

30 interns 
were placed

N/A N/A

Human capital 
development 

To provide 
funding to 
companies who 
provide training 
in specific gap 
areas within 
the audio visual 
industry

3 Training 
companies 
were funded 

3 Training 
companies 

2 Training 
companies 
funded

1 Applications 
received did 
not meet 
the minimum 
requirements

To provide 
filmmakers with 
industry skills to 
enhance talents

Sediba Spark 
hosted 60 
Film makers 
participate 
in Sediba 
programmes 
p.a

60 
Filmmakers 
to participate 
in Sediba 
Programme

115 
filmmakers’  
participated

55 Able to 
fund more 
participants 
through 
provincial 
partnerships

To expose 
students to 
the business of 
filmmaking by 
attending local & 
international film 
festivals

12  students/
filmmakers to 
participated 
in mentorship 
programmes 

8 Students to 
participate in 
mentorship 
programme

2 Students to 
participate at 
African Film 
Festival

12 students 
participated 
in mentorship 
programme 
and the 
African Film 
Festival

2 Funded 
additional 
participants 
at  no 
additional 
cost to NFVF

To expose 
school 500 
learners to 
diverse career 
opportunities 
within the 
filmmaking 
industry

 621 learners 
participated

500 learners 
to participate 
on school 
programme

556 
participated 
in school 
programme

56 Grades from 
the identified 
schools 
had more 
numbers of 
learners.  

PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE REPORT
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SIGNIFICANT ACHIEVEMENTS

Increased number of interns and bursaries through additional funding from MICT SETA partnership.

KEY PROGRAMME OUTPUTS

National bursaries and international scholarships remain one of the key interventions in supporting emerging talent 

within the industry. During the year under review, the NFVF granted 151 bursaries to students studying film or 

television courses. These students were from a variety of tertiary institutions both in South Africa and abroad. 

There was a diverse range of disciplines that the beneficiaries were pursuing including producing, directing, script 

writing, cinematography, animation, visual effects, and sound design. The students who received funding were also 

at different levels of study –from first year through to masters level.

STRATEGY TO OVERCOME AREAS OF UNDERPERFORMANCE

The Sediba accreditation process has proved to be a challenging process due to a lack of standardised study 

material.  The NFVF appointed a team of industry experts to develop requisite training material in line with the MICT 

SETA accreditation requirements.

CHANGES TO PLANNED TARGETS

There were no changes to planned targets.
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12.2 PROGRAMME 2: POLICY AND 
RESEARCH 

PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION

Purpose of programme 

In ensuring that we assist in creating and maintaining 

not only an enabling regulatory environment but 

a thriving and empowering one,  the policy and 

research programme is tasked with providing the 

NFVF with comprehensive and accurate information 

by researching the film and video industry to make 

policy recommendations to the NFVF council. Research 

conducted also provides critical information and key 

performance indicators of the South African film 

industry.

The purpose of the NFVF’s policy department is three-

fold: to monitor policies concerning the audio-visual 

industry for the benefit of the South African film and 

television industry to make submissions in respect of 

those policies, and engage with staff in respect of the 

NFVF’s internal policies and policy framework. The 

programme ensures that internal and external policies 

are drafted to ensure that the NFVF can deliver on its 

various objectives.  

The film industry is impacted by several policies, laws, 

and regulations that are developed from time to time. 

Policy monitoring and intervention is an important 

function that identifies policies and laws that impact 

either positively on the NFVF and/or the industry. 

Policy submissions generated by the department 

seek to respond to the proposed laws and presenting 

alternative positions for consideration by the drafters of 

the proposed policies or laws. 

Research projects are undertaken and subsequent 

policy interventions are critical to ensure that the 

film industry contributes to government imperatives 

such as job creation, social cohesion, and enterprise 

development. 

Strategic objectives related to policy and research:

 • Policy formulation

 • Sectoral information management (a reliable 

source of film industry information)

 • Proposed regulations

 • Administration and certification of national films 

(local and official co-productions) 

Annual Report Layout.indd   27 2019/08/27   15:31:57



NFVF ANNUAL REPORT 2018/201928

PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE REPORT

Policy and Research

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 

2017/2018

Planned 
Target

2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement

2018/2019

Deviation 
from planned 

target to 
Actual 

Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Business 
Development

To conduct 
and 
disseminate 
research 
on SA film 
industry 

5 Industry 
research 
reports were 
conducted and 
disseminated

4 Industry 
reports 

4 Industry 
reports were 
conducted and 
disseminated 

N/A N/A

Develop, 
review and 
implement 
NFVF Policies 
to ensure 
compliance 
with relevant 
legislation 

Not achieved 3 Policy 
manuals 
to be 
developed 
and reviewed

3 Policy 
manuals were 
developed

N/A N/A

2 Policy 
workshop 
conducted for 
staff

2 Policy 
workshop 
to be  
conducted 
for staff

0 0 Policies 
were only 
approved in 
4th quarter  

N/A 4 quarterly 
policy 
monitoring 
reports 

4 quarterly 
policy 
monitoring 
reports were 
prepared

N/A N/A

N/A 2 Policy and 
legislative 
submissions 

2 Policy and 
legislative 
submission 
were prepared

N/A N/A
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SIGNIFICANT ACHIEVEMENTS

Policy Monitoring

In the period under review, the NFVF made submissions 

in respect of the following:

 • DTI review of Film Incentive Guidelines;

 • Film and Publication Board’s Content Classification 

Guidelines;

 • The Cybercrimes and Cyber Security Bill;

 • The Protection of Personal Information Act; and

 • The Copyright Act and Copyright Amendment Bill.

 • The Performers Protection Bill.

The State of Transformation in the South African 
Film Industry

The role of facilitating transformation in South Africa 

cannot be understated. 

Section 3(e) of the NFVF Act No. 73 of 1997 

specifically mandates the NFVF to address historical 

imbalances in the infrastructure and distribution of 

skills and resources. With the acknowledgement that 

the South African film industry is an important driver 

and contributor towards the national transformation 

agenda, historical imbalances may take many forms, 

including: 

 • Access to opportunities (i.e. barriers to entry);

 • Lack of access to funding;

 • Lack of access to production means and skills; and

 • Lack of infrastructure, 

The NFVF commissioned Quest Research Services to 

conduct research on  the state of transformation in the 

South African film industry.

The NFVF’s terms of reference were for the study to 

focus on obtaining filmmaker interviews in provinces 

outside of Gauteng, the Western Cape and KwaZulu-

Natal to gauge whether the transformation was indeed 

taking place in these areas or not.

The study found that transformation is a complex 

subject that is not only about the regulatory emphasis 

on ownership, management, control, procurement, 

and skills, but also about ensuring that resources 

are shared equitably. This means that within the film 

industry, the NFVF has to ensure that jobs are created, 

businesses are supported, human capital is developed 

and nurtured.

While the South African film industry is renowned for 

its experienced technical crew (particularly in servicing 

international productions and co-productions), 

previously disadvantaged individuals (PDIs) and black 

companies are still unable to participate effectively in 

the film industry because of some of the challenges 

stated above.

In addition, there are further challenges to ensuring 

adequate and effective transformation in this industry 

such as:

 • The geographical spread of resources (i.e. largely 

as a result of the racial engineering of the apartheid 

regime); and

 • The upskilling of individuals in under-serviced areas 

(i.e. small provinces, rural areas, etc.).
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In conclusion, many on the ground acknowledge that 
there has been progress made to transform this industry, 
however, such progress is at a slow pace. A framework/ 
model needs to be developed to appropriately 
measure and address the progress that has transpired. 
The framework/model should delve deeper into issues 
of ownership of  resources, access and the makeup of 
the owners themselves (i.e. women, youth, black males, 
white males, etc.).

THE ANNUAL BOX OFFICE REPORT 
(January 2018 – December 2018)
South Africa’s box office report analysis the 
performance of local films and highlights some of 
the highest-earning titles for this financial year. The 
information on box office gross, type of genres 
distributed, number of domestic films released and 
an indication of the market share for South Africa is 
reported on, in order to show what drives audience 
consumption of films in South Africa.

Summary of key findings:

 • South Africa’s (SA) total box office earnings for this 
financial year  amounted to R1,3 billion  an increase 
of 9% when compared to 2017;

 • A total of 213 films were released in South African 
cinemas; 22 of which were locally produced;

 • These 22 titles earned a total of R50 million in 
box office revenues recording an increase of 12% 
compared to the previous financial year;

 • 12 of the 22 locally produced films were partially 
funded by the NFVF. These films earned a total of 
R21 million;

 • The market share of locally produced films in this 
current financial year is 4%;

 • The top-earning domestic films in 2018 were: 
 » Frank and Fearless opening with 95 screens 

and earning a total of R7,8 million in revenues; 
 » This was followed by Stroomop (57 screens on 

release) taking R7,4 million;

The findings generally indicated that there has been 

some transformation in this industry, however, it is not 

experienced equally. The study looked into, amongst 

other factors, whether the policy landscape has any 

bearing on transformation in the industry (i.e. whether 

a policy is experienced as a hindrance or it is promoting 

transformation). Participants were further asked 

their views on whether the introduction of initiatives 

and/or incentives at local, provincial and national 

level contributed to the transformation of the South 

African film industry. Moreover, the study’s literature 

review examined the experience of those whose 

voices have not been heard;; including the realities of 

being homosexual in South Africa;; those living with 

disabilities and those faced with multiple oppressions 

such as black women (i.e. marginalised because of 

their gender and race). If not all voices are heard, is 

the film industry really transforming?

The study reveals an accurate reflection of the reality 

of our South African society in general – the ‘usual’ 

challenges experienced in untransformed spaces, 

such as:

 • Lack of access to information is one of the biggest 

challenges such as access to film commissions, 

a limited number of mentoring and development 

programmes, lack of exposure etc.;

 • Lack of access to resources such as funding and 

access to equipment, which is supposed to assist 

aspiring and struggling filmmakers);

 • Lack of access to current government initiatives, in 

the form of programmes and incentives which are 

in place to assist filmmakers – which do not filter 

down to remote areas; and

 • Lack of transparency from industry departments 

and bodies (i.e. corruption) which led to limited 

opportunities for upcoming filmmakers and other 

participants of the film industry.
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 » Ellen: Die Storie van Ellen Pakkies was the third -highest performing local film, making R6,0 million at the 

cinema.   

 • The highest-grossing films in South Africa were as follows:

 » Black Panther (grossing over R107 million)

 » Avengers: Infinity War (at R73 million) 

 » Aquaman (at R55 million)

 • Action/Adventure was the highest-earning genre, followed by Animation, and their Action/Sci-fi;

 • A total of 52 3D/4DX/IMAX format films were released and these accounted for 65% of the total box office gross.
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Figure 1: South Africa’s Domestic Box Office Revenue, 2010 – 2018

Figure 2: Number of local films released, 2010 - 2018

South Africa’s Domestic Box Office Revenue 

Number of local films released 
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Figure 3: Market Share of SA produced films, 2010 - 2018

Market Share of SA produced films

Top 10, SA Produced Films

No# Movie Title No# of Weeks No# of Screens BOG at Release Box Office Gross (ZAR)

1 Frank and Fearless 7 98 R1 340 342 R7 873 349

2 Stroomop 9 57 R2 547 451 R7 407 835

3 Ellen: Die Storie 
van Ellen Pakkies 8 35 R968 408 R6 085 624

4 Broken Promises: 
4-Ever 13 15 R1 029 775 R4 280 383

5 Susters 10 37 R1 012 632 R4 141 651

6 Baby Mamas 12 61 R723 281 R3 222 353

7 Thys En Trix 6 43 R604 343 R2 738 908

8 Raaiselkind 4 33 R397 413 R1 978 783

9 The Wound 
(Inxeba) 10 19 R598 571 R1 950 353

10 Looking for Love 9 46 R443 953 R1 833 520

Table 3: Top 10 – South African produced films
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Other NFVF involvement/ developments include:

 • The NFVF formed part of the working and 

coordinating team as well as the reference group 

for the South African Film Summit which was 

hosted by the Department of Arts and Culture 

(DAC) on the 4th- 5th February 2019. The theme 

of the Summit was “Transformation and Innovation 

in the South African Film/Audio-Visual Industry 

and the 4th Industrial Revolution”. The Summit 

was held at the Skyrink Studios in Johannesburg, 

South Africa. The two day summit attracted over 

900 delegates from the audio-visual industry, 

government stakeholders, local and international 

delegates and members of the media. 

 • The Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale 

Zusammenarbeit (German Development 

Cooperation - GIZ) and the United Nations Entity 

for Gender Equality and Women’s Empowerment 

(UN Women) are the Secretariat of a Flagship 

Project titled “National Compact with the Media 

and Creative Industries for a Positive Portrayal of 

Gender Relations and against Gender Violence”. 

The United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and 

Women’s Empowerment (UN Women) has a global 

campaign titled, ‘Step It Up for Gender Equality 

Media Compact’ which promotes women’s rights 

and gender equality through media outlets within 

the framework of the sustainable development 

goals. UN Women aims to increase the 

representation of women in media, include women 

in leadership positions and ensure that women 

are trained as journalists to ensure that gender is 

mainstreamed. Several large international media 

houses are part of the compact, including South 

African companies.

The GIZ programme for the prevention of violence 
against Women and Girls in Southern Africa and the 
UN Women have agreed on a joint partnership on 
the implementation of a flagship project focusing 
on the prevention of gender-based violence and 
potentially harmful gender-stereotyping with and 
through the South African media and creative 
industry sector. The GIZ is implementing the 
regional programme: Partnerships for Prevention 
of Violence against Women and Girls in Southern 
Africa. The regional programme which officially 
launched in December 2017 in three Southern 
African countries include; South Africa, Lesotho, 
and Zambia and is being implemented over three 
years. The main objective of the programme 
is to strengthen the cooperation between 
governmental, non-governmental and the private 
sector to prevent violence against women and 
girls in Southern Africa. The NFVF forms part of 
the advisory group.

 • The NFVF made strategic input into “The seminal 
contribution on how we use the film space to make 
South Africans benefit in the context of the collective 
strength of the BRICS countries” Honourable 
Minister of Arts and Culture, Nathi Mthethwa’s met 
with all BRICS Cultural Ministers, in October 2018.

 • The NFVF is establishing a collaboration with 
the China Research Institute of Film Science 
and Technology - a subordinate unit of State 
Administration of Press Publication, Radio, Film & 
Television (SAPPRFT) of China. The institution is 
the only non-profit research institute in China’s film 
industry.

 • The NFVF was invited, together with other key 
stakeholders by the Film and Publication Board of 
South Africa (FPB) to form a “think-tank” on the 
Harmonisation of Content Regulation in Africa. The 

NFVF was unable to honour an invitation. 
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Invest SA (DTI) allocated funds via the EMIA 

group missions’ scheme for 12 companies 

to participate at the AFM from 30 October – 

06 November 2018. The companies were all 

emerging black filmmakers active in different 

aspects of picture management such as 

scriptwriting, production and directing, post-

production, lighting and equipment, crew and 

casting and distribution.   

   
Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

There are no specific areas of underperformance for 

this period under review. The organisation, however, 

undertakes to increase stakeholder engagement before, 

during and after research and policy development 

processes to ensure consistent communication.

Changes to planned targets

There were no changes to planned targets. 

South African films certified

Certifications 

1. Treaties

   1.1.   Feedback on the India Coproduction  

          Treaty was sent to DAC in June 2018, and no  

          further feedback has been received.. The  

          CEO and coproduction manager/ monitoring  

          and evaluation manager were included in this  

          correspondence.  

Co-productions 

During the 2018/19 financial year, 10 projects were 

certified for co-production, 6 for advanced rulings and 

4 for the final ruling. 

 • The NFVF sits on various intergovernmental 

forums such as:

 » Intergovernmental Enforcement Committee: 

The level of sophistication that is apparent 

when it comes to trademark counterfeiting and 

copyright piracy demands that government 

formalise structures and have a national 

enforcement strategy and protocol to combat 

the trade in counterfeit goods in South 

Africa. The Intergovernmental Enforcement 

Committee is in respect of implementation of 

the  Counterfeit Goods Act, 1997. 

 » Creative Industries Working Group of the 

Department of Communications: The audio-

visual landscape requires a comprehensive 

policy and regulatory framework, the NFVF 

forms part of the working group formulated to 

address the framework.

 » The NFVF formed part of the DTI delegation to 

the American Film Market (AFM) in November 

2018. AFM is one of the biggest film markets 

in the world that houses sales agents and 

distributors from all over the world to acquire 

films. The market also arranges conferences 

with current topics in discussion for producers 

and industry associates. These sessions 

aim to equip attendees with the necessary 

knowledge required to take their films to the 

world. AFM is also a great networking platform 

that stimulates coproduction work between 

South Africa and the United States of America.  

With 7,000 attendees, 500 screenings, 400 

exhibiting distributors, and the industry’s 

largest conference series, AFM is the pivotal 

destination for independent filmmakers and 

business people from all over the world.
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Project Name Treaty Ruling

Dead in the water SA/Canada Advance 

In the Outback SA/Germany Advance

Shaidan SA/Canada Advance

Agents of Influence SA/Canada Advance

Soldiers of Fortune SA/Ireland Advance

Ocean Odyssey SA/Canada Advance

Lie to me SA/Germany Final

The Road to Kilimanjaro SA/Germany Final

Against the Wild 3: The Great Elephant Adventure SA/Canada Final

Big Friend, Little Friend SA/Germany Final

Project Name Production Company Producer(s) Director(s)

Hatchet Hour   Ladyburg Film (Pty) Ltd Judy Naidoo Judy Naidoo

The Recce Man Makes a Picture Productions (Pty) Ltd Jac Williams Ferdinand Van Zyl

Back of the Moon The Bomb Shelter Film (Pty) Ltd Desiree Markgraaf, Kutlwano 
Ditsele Angus Gibson

Eighth Film Man Makes a Picture Productions (Pty) Ltd Jac Williams Harold Holsher

Stone Cold Jane Moonlighting FFF Productions (Pty) Ltd Philip Key, Diana Keam Jon Savage

The Tokoloshe The Ergo Company (Pty) Ltd Dumi Gumbi, Cati Weinek Jerome Pikwane  

Six applications were issued with a certificate of nationality:
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12.3 PROGRAMME 3: PRODUCTION AND DEVELOPMENT OF CONTENT 

Purpose of programme 

The production and development of content is at the core of the work the NFVF engages in – it is where the 

mandate of the organisation is most clearly fulfilled by providing the film industry with critical financial support and 

technical expertise to take a film project from an idea to a product that can be screened.  While the quantity of 

films produced locally is a decisive factor in the growth and sustainability of the film industry, the quality of films is 

also important to ensure widespread distribution and a loyal market. Feature films, documentaries, short films, and 

television concepts are all considered for development and production funding. Financial support also allows for 

diversity in the film industry so that filmmakers who would typically be unable to raise financing for their projects 

are not side-lined. The NFVF, therefore, is able to focus on creating a more equitable industry. 

Strategic objectives related to production and development of content:

 • Increase number South African films produced

 • Empower individuals from Previously Disadvantaged (PD) communities 

 • Support innovative distribution
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PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE REPORT

Production and Development of Content

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Business 
Development

To fund the 
development  
& production 
of South 
African 
content 

81 projects 
were funded in 
development

66 projects 
funded in 
development 
p.a.

80 projects 
were funded in 
Development 

14 projects More projects 
funded from 
surplus 
funding

48 projects 
funded in 
production

38 projects 
funded in 
production 
p.a.

46 projects 
funded in 
production

8 projects  More projects 
funded from 
surplus 
funding

1 Women 
filmmaker 
slate funded 
annually

10 Female 
filmmaker films 
funded

Award 1 new 
women’s 
filmmaker 
slate

1 Female 
filmmaker slate 
funded

N/A N/A

1 First time 
/ youth 
filmmaker 
slate funded 
annually

10 Youth 
filmmakers 
and 1 first time 
filmmakers

Award 1 first 
time/youth 
filmmaker 
slate

1 First time 
youth 
filmmaker slate 
funded

N/A N/A

1 fiction slate 
funded p.a

3 fiction slates 
funded

Fund 3rd 
year of the 
fiction slate

3 fiction slates 
funded

2 more than 
target

More than 1 
slate funded 
because 
of the high 
quality 
standard 
of the 
proposals.

1 animation 
slate funded 
p.a

1 animation 
slate funded

Fund the 2nd 
year of the 
animation

1 animation 
slate funded

N/A N/A

1 documentary 
slate funded 
p.a

1 documentary 
slate funded

Fund the 2nd 
year of the 
documentary 
slate

1 documentary 
slate funded

N/A N/A
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SIGNIFICANT ACHIEVEMENTS 

A total of 79 projects were received for development funding in 2018/19 financial year. A slight decline from 81 

projects funded in the previous financial year (2017/18). The total funding approved for development projects 

decreased by 2% from R11 million in 2017/18 to R10 million in 2018/19.

Completed Fiction Films

 • The Letter Reader 

 • 3AM 

 • The Story of a Baked Brownie

 • Change 

 • Uncovered 

 • The Tokoloshe

 • I want to be a doctor too

 • Mma Moeketsi 

 • Collide

 • Table Manners 

 • Flatland 

 • Toorbos 

 • Loveless 

 • Sew the Winter into my Skin

Production and Development of Content

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation 
from planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Co-
productions

To certify  
national films

Certified 
100% of all 
applications 
received

Certify 
90% of all 
applications 
received

90% of 
applications 
received were 
certified  

N/A N/A

5  Co-
production 
activations

3 Co-
production 
activations 
p.a

3 N/A N/A
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Completed Web Series

 • The Single Diaries of a Single Girl  

Completed Non-Fiction Films

 • The Battlefield of Love (2016/17)
 • Everything Must Fall (2018/19)
 • Zulu Journey (2017/18)
 • Fool’s Paradise (2016/17)
 • Mandela: A True Pan African (2017/18)
 • My Culture, My Music (2017/18)
 • Poetic Souls (2016/17)

Completed Animation films

 • Belly flop

Slate Projects and EBFTF 

 • Love Lives Here (2012/13)
 • Baby Mamas (2016/17)
 • Farewell  Ella Bella (2016/17)
 • Mayfair (2012/13)
 • Kings of Mulberry Street

Youth Filmmaker Project (10 short films for year 1)  
The NFVF in partnership with the Namibia Film 
Commission and the KwaZulu-Natal Film Commission 
funded 10 short films which were developed and 
produced by 10 young filmmakers from South Africa 
and Namibia

 • Chommies (Namibia)
 • Two Sides of the Coin (Namibia)
 • Besties 
 • The Turning Son 
 • Heels on the Wheels 
 • Isidima 
 • Nomcebo 
 • Isikhalo

 • Diphiri Le Makunutu 
 • Love and  Masikhandi 

Female Filmmaker Project (9 short films for year 1)

The NFVF in partnership with the KwaZulu-Natal 
Film Commission funded 10 short films which were 
developed and produced by 10 young filmmakers 
from South Africa.

 • Uye and Kholi
 • Miracle 
 • Umphefumulo
 • Shaka’s Mask 
 • Unknown No
 • Slumber Party 
 • The Truth
 • Celia’s Escape 
 • I was Blind

BRICS project produced under the theme of high 5. 

 • Dela (Brazil)
 • I’m not afraid Mom (Russia)
 • Echoes (India)
 • Organising Happiness (China)
 • Defiant Bonga (South Africa

 
Highlights FY18/19

Song of Ascents now titled The Home, a short 
documentary, directed by Jessie Zinn participated at 
the Independent Filmmaker Project (IFP) in New York 
which took place from 15 – 20 September 2018. This is  
the first time an NFVF funded documentary has been 
selected to participate at IFP, and it is worth noting 
that both the director and the producer are Tier 3 
filmmakers. The documentary film was also selected 
to participate in Works In Progress (WIP), an intensive 
story workshop, an initiative of the Cape Town 
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International Film Market and Festival (CTIFMF) which 
took place between 9  – 19 October 2018. 

District Six, Rising in the Dust, a feature-length 
documentary, directed by Weaam Williams won an 
award of excellence at the Scandinavian International 
Film Festival.

The following NFVF funded documentaries participated 
in the renowned International Documentary Film 
Festival Amsterdam (IDFA), which took place from the 

14th  – 25th  November 2018:

 • The Colonel’s Stray Dogs, a feature-length 

documentary, directed by Khalid Shamis 

participated in the Rough Cut Forum. 

 • The Sounds of Masks, a feature-length 

documentary, directed by Sara De Gouveia was 

selected in competition with other noteworthy 

international documentaries. 

The Tokoloshe, a feature film directed by Jerome 

Pikwane opened at cinemas countrywide on the 2nd  

November 2018. The film also screened at the first-

ever Comic Con Africa, which took place from 14th  - 

16th  September. Audiences reacted positively to the 

overall film as well as to the special effects that were 

presented by the visual effects and sound design 

team.

Nommer 37, the acclaimed ‘Hitchcockian’ South 

African crime thriller, premiered at local cinemas on 

the 1st of June 2018. This production, which had its 

world premiere at the International SXSW Film Festival 

in Texas, was selected to represent the country at 

the 18th annual Neuchâtel International Fantastic Film 

Festival (NIFFF) which took place from the 6th-14th 

July 2018 in Switzerland.

Jahmil X.T Qubeka’s Sew the Winter to My Skin, an epic 

existential-adventure film that wowed audiences at 

Cannes L’Atelier in 2017, had its world premiere at the 

Toronto International Film Festival. This film was also 

selected to be the opening film at last year’s CTIFMF. 

Sew Winter to my Skin was also South Africa’s official 

submission for the 2019 Oscars. The film also took 

home a few awards including Best Feature Film at the 

South African Film Awards (SAFTAs). 

Other NFVF funded films that participated at CTIFMF 

in the financial year is a short film by award-winning 

director Reabetswe Moeti titled Mma Moeketsi which 

stars Keketso Semoko known for her role as Ma 

Agnes on Isidingo. The film follows a domestic worker 

from rural Lesotho working for a suburban family in 

Johannesburg. Mma Moeketsi won the Best Short Film 

at the Jozi Film Festival. 

When Babies Don’t Come (previously entitled: Womb-

Man), a feature-length documentary, directed by 

Molatelo Mainetjie of Bolobothaba Productions,  won 

the Best Documentary Feature at The African Film 

Festival in Dallas, Texas which took place between 27 

- 29 April 2018.

Untamed, a feature-length documentary, directed by 

Simon Wood was selected to participate in a world-

renowned workshop titled, Final Cut in Venice, which 

took place between the 29th of August 2018 and the 

8th of September 2018. The film was also nominated 

for a SAFTA. 

Shooting Sardines in a Barrel, a feature-length 

documentary, directed by Lieza Louw of White Goat 

Cineart was selected to screening at the Ethno film 

Festival which took place in Paris between the 27 - 29 

April 2018. 
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Five Fingers for Marseilles, a feature-length Western film, directed by Michael Matthews of Be Phat Motel Film 

Company opened at cinemas nationwide on the 6th April 2018. The film has gone on to win various awards at the 

Africa Movie Academy Awards in Rwanda, as well as the SAFTAs. 

Miles From Nowhere directed by Samantha Nell and produced by Bongiwe Selane was participated in the La 

Fabrique Cinéma de l’Institut français during  Cannes. A programme tailored to assist and expose young talented 

directors and producers from emerging countries internationally. 

Everything Must Fall, directed by Rehad Desai was featured in a variety of international film festivals including; Cape 

Town Film Festival and Market, Joburg International Film Festival, IDFA, Doxa in Canada, Human Rights Watch in 

London, Movies that Matter, Dan Hugue in Holland, and One World in Prague Czech.

Everything Must Fall also received a few accolades, including a Vaclav Havel Award for Best Documentary at One 

World in Prague Czech, Best documentary at Cape Town International festival and Market and Human right, Human 

wrongs in OSLO, Norway. 

Everything Must Fall received the Best Director and Best Documentary Feature award at the SAFTAs.

Special Projects

The 2018/19 FY marked the 25 years of democracy in South Africa. To commemorate this milestone the NFVF 

commissioned four companies to produce one documentary each, to celebrate our achievements as a nation.

Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Amount Allocated

A New Country Sifiso Khanyile Anaphora Films R750 000.00

Mother to Mother Carol Shore Seashore Films (Pty) Ltd R750 000.00

Fiction Slate 2018/19:

The NFVF has awarded slate funding over the years to production companies with the specific objective of 

cultivating sustainable and viable businesses. The initiative is developed out of international best practices with the 

understanding that when a small company is granted operating capital towards development and production, a 

great deal of uncertainty is minimised. Successes produced from the programme include box-office hits such as, 

Keeping up with the Kandasamys, Happiness is a Four Letter Word, Ayanda: The Mechanic, and Mrs Right Guy, to 

name a few. 

In the year 2018/19, 3 companies were awarded: 
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CYCLE 1 – 2018/19

Development - Documentaries

Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

Imprint of the Ancestors Beverley Mitchell Kalahari Film and Media 
CC R150 000.00

Mining & Mayhem Laurence Dworkin N/A R150 000.00

Last Night A Haircut Saved 
My Life Roxanne Dalton Alive Productions R130 000.00

Mother city Pearl Georgina Joubert Plexus Films R150 000.00

When Shadows Move Aliki Saragas Elafos Productions R150 000.00

Murder in Paris – Pourquoi 
/ Why, Dulcie September? Enver Samuel EMS Productions R150 000.00

 Development – Short Documentaries

“Fact Of BlackNess And 
iKasi” Zandiswa Kula N/A R100 000.00

Iyeza (Medicine) Sibongile Nene Zulu Heritage Films R100 000.00

Labelled Evandre De Silver Oudre Productions R100 000.00

Man of God Poppy Madela Vila-Dela Pictures R100 000.00

Missing Middle Okuhle Dyosopu Outsider Bay R100 000.00

KEY PROGRAMME OUTPUTS:

APPROVED PROJECTS – CYCLE 1 – FY 2018/19

Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Amount Allocated

Slate 2019-2021 Amy Jephta Nagvlug Films R6 000 000.00

Sorele Media Slate 
Application (Covet) Salamina Mosese Sorele Media R6 000 000.00  

The Seriti Slate Leanne Kumalo Seriti Studios R6 000 000.00
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Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

Production – Short Documentaries

Mpho Tshepo Movundlela Wormwood Pictures and 
Entertainment (Pty) Ltd R100 000.00

No Filter: The Truth about 
colourism in South African 
black communities

Mahlatse Rampjapedi Christal Media R100 000.00

Production- Documentaries

Seven Steps - A 
Documentary Portrait of 
Taliep Petersen

Dominique Jossie Screendance Africa ZA 
(Pty) Ltd R300 000.00

Still : A story of Lauretta 
Ngcobo Kethiwe Ngcobo Fuzebox Entertainment R350 000.00

Womxn: Working Tiny Mungwe CTRL ALT Shift R350 000.00

Manche, the African Saint Jacky Lourens Get the Picture R200 000.00

Womb Dance Howard Mashilo Nthite Napwadiwa 9u9 
Productions (Pty) Ltd R150 000.00

By all means necessary Ramadan Suleman Natives At Large R120 000.00

Development – Feature Length 

Susters van Eva Saskia Schiel Advantage Entertainment R200 000.00

Get Happy Carolyn Carew Free Women Films R200 000.00

Republic of Africa Sechaba Morojele Provoke Entertainment R200 000.00

Ronald Nicki Priem Mad Little Badger R200 000.00

Development – Short Film 

Connec Ted David Ritchie N/A R 90 000.00

IiNtombi ZamaNtuli Nandisa Mkize Beyond Black Productions R100 000.00

It’s now or never America Ngwepe Tlou Tlou Productions R100 000.00

Lefuma & Pheello Neiloe Whitehead N/A R100 000.00

Love Found Penelope Tshilwane Penelope Productions R100 000.00
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Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

My Little Big World Kushyall Singh Twenty Rand 
Entertainment R100 000.00

Ngozi Owethu Njotina The Black Magician R83 900.00

The Award Beryl Motlhabani Khumagadi Holdings R100 000.00

This New South Africa Senthuran Pillay Tymphanic Vision R100 000.00

Development – TV Format 

The Judas Goat Daniel Bester The Film Factory South 
Africa R200 000.00

Ringa Mzansi Lwazi Msipha Old Fashion Youngin R200 000.00

Production – Feature Length 

Coltan Sisanda Henna Formula Movie Pty R1 300 000.00

African America Phumelele Mthembu MVP Productions R1 300 000.00

Displace Reyjeane Haroun Film Production & Host of 
the 48 R200 000.00

Production – Short Film 

Address Unknown Anton Fisher Green Leaf Films (Pty) LTD R150 000.00

Nefarious Creatures Camilo Saloojee Raw Content R150 000.00

No Place for Girls Ntuthuko Qwabe Indie Content Africa R150 000.00

Overnight Success Tebogo Motshubele Reality Times R115 500.00

The Adventures Of Paper 
Surf Nokuzola Ngcobo Fruitshake Productions R150 000.00

Unforseen Nelson Rashuza Nellifix (PTY) LTD R150 000.00

Spunky Livez Evandre De Silver Oudre Productions R150 000.00
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CYCLE 2 – 2018/19

Development - Documentaries

Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

African Moot Shameela Seedat N/A R150 000.00

Black Bomb Zinaid Meeran Team Tarbaby R150 000.00

Geza Thabo Bruno Mokoena South Western Films 
(SOWEFI) R100 000.00

Umhlaba Thando Wayi Wai Media (Pty) Ltd R150 000.00

Development - Short Documentaries

Her Majesty-Modjadji Ndiyathemba Modibedi N/A R100 000.00

Pina Ke Puo Tshepo Mosese RebelCamp Entertainment R100 000.00

The Woman, The Wound, 
The Picture Awongiwe Polo Three Tin Entertainment R100 000.00

Production – Documentaries

True Patriot Kevin Harris Rainbow Independent Film 
& TV Productions, cc R350 000.00

A Cape Town Song : The 
Luxurama Story Liesel Priem Show Must Go On R350 000.00

An Hour After Midnight Patricia van Heerden Public Nature Media R350 000.00

To the Top from Nowhere Thando Wayi Wai Media (Pty) Ltd R350 000.00
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Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

Post-Production – Documentaries

Becoming Human Andy Spitz Left-Eye Productions R120 000.00

Development – Feature Length

The Elephant Whisperer Dylan Voogt Indlovu Films R200 000.00

Colour Blind Sibusiso Khuzwayo Sleeves up Media R200 000.00

Laas Gado Zimkhitha Maseko Exit Media R200 000.00

Mamlambo Lungelo Khuzwayo N/A R200 000.00

The Madonna of Excelsior Maboreng Maharaswa The Madonna of Excelsior 
(Pty) Ltd R200 000.00

Development – Short Film

Hokmeisie Nadine Cloete Ma’engere Film 
Productions R100 000.00

Bittersweet Keith Koogen Advent Digital R100 000.00

Child of this Soil Letlapa Mphahlele Child of This Soil 
Production R100 000.00

His James Johannes Mzwandile spirit Bunduzboi Pictures (PTY) 
Ltd R100 000.00

Mpho ya Me “My Gift” Lucky Mqoboli Etc and So Forth 
Production R100 000.00

Musiwalo Dowelanie Nenzhelele N/A R100 000.00

Road To Azania Sibusiso Buthelezi N/A R100 000.00

Stand Up Lady Suzanne Du Toit Story Nation R100 000.00

The Puppeteer Inga Mtebele Under Tone Productions R64 210.00

The Cleaner Andiswa Mpotulo Awakened Eye Media R100 000.00

The Walk Home Sipho Bosa The Media Workshop R39 500.00

Through Thick and Thin Selby Zondo N/A R70 000.00

Ubhuku LukaMenzi Mandisa Buthelezi Mel Media and 
Productions R97 270.00

Yes Yanga! Refiloe Moahloli Twelve Animation Studios R100 000.00
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Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

Development – TV Format

Breakline Wendy Spinks Zero Point Studios R200 000.00

Square Bear & Box Fox Wayne Thornley Life Story Studios R200 000.00

Production – Feature Length

Snake Paul Egan Boondogle R1 300 000.00

White Lie Maynard Kraak West Five Films R1 300 000.00

Harmoni Stephen Lorenzo Engage Entertainment R1 300 000.00

Production - Short Film

#wedocare Sechaba Morojele Provoke Entertainment R200 000.00

The Pool Matome Senyolo Fullframe Picture R143 900.00

Insila kaShaka Sibongile Nene Zulu Heritage Films R150 000.00

Ms. Me Oliver Swartz Nitfia Pictures R150 000.00

Ying Yang Inga Mtebele Undertone Pictures R93 370.00

Production – TV Pilot

High on Air Phetogo Mahasha Cinema Charismatic R199 380.00

Production – Web Series

Bougie Kelly-Eve Koopman Backyard Pitch 
Productions R200 000.00

Post Production – Feature Length

Knuckle City Layla Swart Knuckle City Film (PTY) 
Ltd R450 000.00
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CYLE 3 2018/19

Development – Feature Length

Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

A Place in the Rainbow Ben van der Byl Axe Communications R200 000.00

Calling Bobie Mokhema N/A R200 000.00

Dream Blowing Deidre Rosenberg N/A R200 000.00

Faithful Daughter Kim Robinson Renaissance Strategic 
Solutions R200000.00

Granny Lee Roelof Sarel Storm Marche Media R200 000.00

Mandela’s Guerrilla’s Zola Maseko Unizen House R200 000.00

The Adventures of 
Bhamuza Vukile Ngcingwana Just Nje Entertainment R200 000.00

The Rehab Jason Staggie Kyros Media R200 000.00

The Ugly Thing Kanne Puso N/A R200 000.00

Project Name Applicant’s Name Production Company Approved Amount

Development – Short Film 

Kuphumula Magangwe Mahlase Ongavamile Pictures R100 000.00

Lone Robyn Tassyn Munro Predator Media (Pty) Ltd R100 000.00

Magic Thread Bianca Vermooten Big5 Films R248 500.00

The Adventures of 
Lollipop Wonder Sarah Jane Scott N/A R250 000.00

The Alchemist Jean-Paul Moodie Fade2Black Productions R200 000.00

Sandwich Dawnelene Kings Capsule727 (Pty) Ltd R150 000.00

Production – Made for TV Movies

Black River Nomvuyo Veronica Oyiya Network (Pty) Ltd R200 000.00

Transit Fanyana Hlabangane Cool Take Pictures (Pty) 
Ltd R200 000.00
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Special Projects

Fiction Slate Projects 

Slate 2019-2021 Amy Jephta Nagvlug Films R6 000 000.00

Sorele Media Slate 
Application (Covet) Salamina Mosese Sorele Media R6 000 000.00

The Seriti Slate Leanne Kumalo Seriti Studios R6 000 000.00

Annual Documentary Special Projects

A New Country Sifiso Khanyile Anaphora Films R 750 000.00

Mother to Mother Carol Shore Jozi Films R750 000.00

CMF and NFVF Co-Development Incentive

Oasis Adam Friedlander Blue Ice Africa (Pty) Ltd R200 000.00

Queen of the Rain Zikethiwe Ngcobo Fuzebox Entertainment R200000.00

The Rush Luke Rous Rous House Productions R200 000.00

Emerging Black Filmmaker Transformation Fund

Seriously Single Rethabile Ramaphakela Burnt Onion Productions R1 400 000.00

Love in the 031 Fadeen Mia  Vengeance Five (Pty) Ltd R1 400 000.00

Push Carmen Sangion SangSang Entertainment 
(Pty) Ltd R1 400 000.00

Annual Report Layout.indd   49 2019/08/27   15:32:02



NFVF ANNUAL REPORT 2018/201950

Recoupment Schedule Total Recoupable Grants Are As Follows:

Grants allocated in 2003  R12 690 774

Grants allocated in 2004  R8 630 000

Grants allocated in 2005 R4 990 000

Grants allocated in 2006 R4 300 000

Grants allocated in 2007   R3 550 000

Grants allocated in 2008 R1 934 000

Grants allocated in 2009   R3 309 000

Grants allocated in 2010 R3 700 000

Grants allocated in 2011 R6 984 845

Grants allocated in 2012 R17 758 735

Grants allocated in 2013 R14 854 735

Grants allocated in 2014 R12 923 500

Grants allocated in 2015 R18 089 369

Grants allocated in 2016 R25 525 452

Grants allocated in 2017 R28,717,374

Total Recoupable Grants R167 957 784
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Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

The overall number of applications have increased year 

on year with the introduction of the online application 

system.  The number of projects funded have also 

increased but not all of them  received funding because 

of limited  access to resources and funds.

There remains a disparity in provincial representation 

which the NFVF is addressing by holding funding and 

application workshops in all provinces to encourage 

underrepresented provinces to submit applications for 

funding.

The assessment process was prejudice to the entry-

level applicants which has now been refined and 

aligned to entry level standards. 

Changes to planned targets 

There were no changes to planned targets.

12.4 PROGRAMME 4: MARKETING AND 
DISTRIBUTION

PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION 

Purpose of programme 

The role of Marketing and Communications within 

the NFVF has continued to grow in importance and 

continues to focus on the broad marketing and 

communications strategy of the NFVF.  The “Igniting 

Your Stories” campaign was launched and activated 

in 2017.  This campaign assisted in the positioning of 

the NFVF as an organisation that ignites the stories 

that South Africans want to tell.  The campaign aims 

to work as an enabler based on different facets of its 

business (Funding, Training, Bursaries, and Research). 

Also, to develop and promote the productions of 

South African film for distribution around the continent 

and global audience. 

The NFVF provides support that enables the promotion 

of the South African film industry by providing grants 

in the following categories:

1. Marketing and Distribution Grant

 • Provides funding for the printing of marketing 

material and advertising for independent 

distribution of South African film through cinema, 

video on demand (VOD) or direct to DVD.

2. National Film Festival Grant

 • Provides financial support to individuals or 

organisations to host local film festivals which 

contribute towards the growth of audiences and 

creating markets for South African Films. The 

NFVF continues to provide this critical financial 

support to local long-standing festivals.

3. NFVF Activations at Local and International 
Markets and Festivals (aimed at increasing  

audience access to South African films)

 • Creating awareness of NFVF programmes and 

South African film opportunities.

 • Promote the South African film industry locally and 

internationally.

4. Markets and Film Festivals attendance

 • Provide financial travelling support for South 

African filmmakers to attend local and international 

festivals and markets.
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Strategic objectives related to marketing and distribution:

 • Increase awareness of the South African film industry

 • Recognition of South Africa as a film making destination

 • Develop and maintain relations with distribution stakeholders 

 • Increase awareness of funding opportunities in the NFVF

 • Elicit more funding applications from underserved areas

 • Increase distribution access points for filmmakers 

 • Promote South African filmmakers (technical expertise and film products)

Marketing and Distribution

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation 
from 
planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Promotional 
Events

To develop 
audiences for 
SA films and 
content 

12 Festival
grants 
awarded 
to national 
festivals 

7 Festival
grants to 
be awarded 
to national 
festivals

12 Festival 
grants were 
awarded 
to national 
festivals

5

High demand 
for funding. 
Due to the high 
demand of 
funding the panel 
recommended 
more projects for 
less than the CAP 
amount.

To position SA 
Filmmakers at  
film markets 
and festivals

99 
Filmmakers 
were funded 
to attend 
markets and 
film festivals 

Fund 82 
Filmmakers 
to attend 
markets and 
film festivals 

111 
Filmmakers 
were funded 
to attend 
Markets and 
Film Festivals

29

High demand 
from local festival 
attendance and 
it costs 50% less 
than the CAP 
amount.

Local 
activations 
and 1 DAC 
activation and 
promotional 
events to 
showcase SA 
film & content

Activated at 
13 national 
film festivals

Activate at 
12 national 
festivals  

Activated at 
13
national 
festivals

1

Identified 
more areas 
that needed 
industry support 
initiatives.

We are Africa 
Film Festival 
and 3 public 
screenings

1 DAC 
activations 
and 2 public 
screenings to 
be hosted

Activated 
1 DAC 
activation 
and hosted 
3 public 
screenings

1

Supported two 
initiatives that 
from our key 
beneficiary  
programmes
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Marketing and Distribution

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation 
from 
planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Promotional 
Events

To develop 
audiences for 
SA films and 
content 

12 Festival
grants 
awarded 
to national 
festivals 

7 Festival
grants to 
be awarded 
to national 
festivals

12 Festival 
grants were 
awarded 
to national 
festivals

5

High demand 
for funding. 
Due to the high 
demand of 
funding the panel 
recommended 
more projects for 
less than the CAP 
amount.

To position SA 
Filmmakers at  
film markets 
and festivals

99 
Filmmakers 
were funded 
to attend 
markets and 
film festivals 

Fund 82 
Filmmakers 
to attend 
markets and 
film festivals 

111 
Filmmakers 
were funded 
to attend 
Markets and 
Film Festivals

29

High demand 
from local festival 
attendance and 
it costs 50% less 
than the CAP 
amount.

Local 
activations 
and 1 DAC 
activation and 
promotional 
events to 
showcase SA 
film & content

Activated at 
13 national 
film festivals

Activate at 
12 national 
festivals  

Activated at 
13
national 
festivals

1

Identified 
more areas 
that needed 
industry support 
initiatives.

We are Africa 
Film Festival 
and 3 public 
screenings

1 DAC 
activations 
and 2 public 
screenings to 
be hosted

Activated 
1 DAC 
activation 
and hosted 
3 public 
screenings

1

Supported two 
initiatives that 
from our key 
beneficiary  
programmes

Marketing and Distribution

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation 
from 
planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Promotional 
Events

To position 
the NFVF 
and the SA 
Film Industry  
through 
international 
activations. 

Attended 8 
international 
festivals 

Activate at 5 
international 
festivals 
and 2 at 
Africa Focus 
Festivals

Activated 
at 5 
international 
festivals 
and 3 at 
Africa Focus 
Festivals 

1
Funded more 
festivals due to 
available funds

Attended 4 
new markets 
to promote 
SA content 

Activate at 
2 strategic 
markets

Activated at 
2 strategic 
markets

N/A N/A

Lp to promote 
the NFVF 
and SA Film 
Industry

4 brand 
activations 
were 
implemented 

1 Brand 
activation per 
quarter

4 Brand 
activations 
were 
implemented

N/A N/A

Successful 
SAFTA’s 
awards 
planned, 
coordinated & 
hosted 

The planning, 
organising, 
and hosting 
the SAFTAs 
event 
that was 
broadcast on 
SABC 2 and 
Mzansi Magic

Plan, 
coordinate 
and host the 
SA Film and 
TV Awards 
(SAFTAs)

Successfully, 
planned, 
coordinated 
and Hosted 
SAFTAs 13

N/A N/A

Stakeholder 
Relations 
management
(Internal and 
External) 

8 Stakeholder 
engagement  
were held 
during the 
financial year

8 Stakeholder 
engagements 
per quarter 

16 
Stakeholder 
engagement 
were held

8

More 
stakeholders 
needed to be 
engaged

Implement a 
communication 
campaign 
to create 
top of mind 
awareness 
(Internal & 
External)

4 communica-
tions cam-
paigns were 
implemented 

4 communi-
cation cam-
paigns per 
quarter

16 communi-
cation cam-
paigns were  
done

N/A N/A
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Marketing and Distribution

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation 
from 
planned 
target to 
Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Distribution/
Infrastructure

To assist SA 
filmmakers 
to sell and 
distribute local 
films 

218 titles were 
uploaded

20 titles to 
be uploaded 
p.a

142 titles 
were 
uploaded

122

More titles 
received from 
the call for 
submissions

Implement film 
hub strategy N/A Implement 1 

site
1 film hub 
implemented N/A N/A

Distribution 
of South 
African 
content

To assist SA 
filmmakers 
to sell and 
distribute local 
films 

10 Marketing 
and 
distribution 
grants 
awarded

Award 12 
marketing 
and 
distribution 
grants 

Awarded 12  
marketing 
and 
distribution 
grants  

N/A N/A

Audience 
development & 
Positioning the 
NFVF and SA 
Film Industry & 
content

7 awareness 
and industry 
events 
implemented

Implement 2 
awareness 
programmes  
and 2 NFVF 
industry 
events p.a

15 11

Overachieved 
due to 
partnerships that 
are aligned to our 
objectives
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SIGNIFICANT ACHIEVEMENTS AND KEY 
PROGRAMME OUTPUTS

Festival grants awarded to national film festivals: 

The aim of the festival grant programme is to ensure film 

activity and audience development in all 9 provinces 

of South Africa.  During this financial year, festival 

grants were awarded to festivals in predominantly 

underserviced provinces such as: Mpumalanga, North 

West, Limpopo, and the Free State. The Western Cape 

and Gauteng were also represented considered for 

development and growth of audiences in underserviced 

provinces. The Northern Cape and Eastern Cape were 

also supported through local film activations. 

The NFVF funded new festivals such as Northern Cape 

Film Festival, Mabonakude Film Festival, Kwasukasukela 

Film Festival, and the Cherry Film Festival.

The NFVF will continue to ensure that the funding of 

festivals are spread across the country while targeting 

different audiences such as learners, students, and 

women. 

ACTIVATIONS AT LOCAL FESTIVALS: 

Durban International Film Festival 

The Durban International Film Festival (DIFF) is 

Africa’s premier film event, hosted by the University 

of KwaZulu-Natal’s Centre for Creative Arts.  Arguably 

the continent’s biggest film events, which attracts both 

film lovers and industry representatives from across 

Africa and beyond. DIFF is a ten-day celebration of 

world-class cinema which screens new features, 

documentaries and short films from around the globe 

with a special focus on African films.

Through the Durban Film Mart (DFM), the festival 

allows the NFVF to present a series of interactive 

workshops and masterclasses throughout the industry 

programme. The festival and mart also allows the 

NFVF to showcase the work that is being done with its 

research programmes, co-production initiatives, and 

marketing programmes.  The 2018 programme was 

supplemented by a fully branded session room where 

all NFVF and other sessions took place, as well as an 

impressive stand in the industry lounge.

Encounters Documentary Film Festival

As part of the 20th edition of the Encounters 

International Documentary Film Festival, the 

Documentary Filmmakers Association (DFA) 

celebrated its 10th Anniversary in the industry and 

to mark this occasion they hosted ‘Doc Tour 2018’ in 

collaboration with Encounters, Film Fatales and SWIFT. 

Doc Tour 2018. This was a one-day event aimed at 

young professionals as well as seasoned filmmakers. 

The National Film and Video Foundation (NFVF) was 

invited to both the Johannesburg and Cape Town legs 

to share information about co-production and funding; 

as well as showcase the opportunities available for the 

attendees who are interested in making documentaries 

as well as attendees looking to pursue a career in the 

film industry. This was a great initiative as it allows 

seasoned professionals to engage with content and 

give constructive criticism to the emerging filmmakers.

In addition to the above listed festivals, the NFVF also 

supported and activated at a number of other local 

festivals such as the Cherry Film Festival, Mabonakude 

Film Festival, Kwasukasukela Film Festival, Northern 

Cape Film Festival, Cherry Film Festival, Yanaya 

Gender Film and Dialogue Festival, Cape Town 

Animation Film Festival, Cape Town International Film 
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Market & Festival, Durban International Film Festival, 

Nature Environment Wildlife Festival and DISCOP 

Johannesburg.

The NFVF’s transformative role of providing funding 

and empowering programmes to the industry is in even 

greater focus and will be communicated to broader 

audiences. 

  
South African Film and Television Awards (SAFTAs)

The NFVF is the custodian of the South African Film 

and Television Awards.  The SAFTAs is an annual 

project that is designed to:

 • Promote quality and excellence in the South 

African film and television products; 

 • Highlight and profile celebrated South African 

talent and product to national and international 

markets;

 • Encourage the growth of talent and new talent 

within the industry;

 • Encourage entrepreneurship within the South 

African Film and Television market; and

 • Stimulate participation by a broad mass of the 

industry in competitive awards events 

SAFTAs is the only ceremony that recognises the film 

making fraternity across all disciplines and dedicates 

awards for excellence across the value chain in front 

of and behind the camera.  The essence of the awards 

are encapsulated in the values of the NFVF, which are:

 • Creativity

 • Freedom of Expression

 • Entrepreneurship

 • Transformation

On the 2nd March 2019, the NFVF staged the 13th 

annual SAFTAs ceremony  at the Super Bowl in Sun 

City, North West. The theme celebrated was “Dare to 

Dream”. The creative concept allowed the NFVF to 

deliver on the key objectives of SAFTAs by crafting 

an awards show that celebrated the dreamers through 

visuals and performance. The theme was driven by the 

narrative that our dreams are a portal to the infinite 

landscape of our imagination and the stories that live 

within us and that our dreams are the essence of how 

we construct our identity, and those who have the 

courage to follow them, unlock the limitless potential 

that exists within every single one of us. 

The premium entertainment experience was enjoyed 

both in-venue and at home. 

Key to the success of SAFTAs 13 were the private and 

public sector partnerships that assisted in making the 

awards possible such as the North West Department 

of Culture, Arts and Traditional Affairs (CATA), South 

African Broadcasting Corporation (SABC), McCafé, 

Gauteng Film Commission (GFC), Kwa-Zulu Natal Film 

CommissionSter-Kinekor, and , and Kunene Makopo 

Risk Solutions (KMRS). 

The audience ratings (AR’s) for the SAFTAs 13 live 

broadcast dropped by almost a million viewers to 1.4 

million AR’s compared to the SAFTAs 12 AR’s of 2,3 

million.

GLOBAL POSITIONING:

The international festivals and markets at which the 

NFVF led a South African delegation were:

Cannes Film Festival 

The NFVF in partnership with Industrial Development 

Agency (IDC) led a delegation representing South 

Africa at Cannes. The NFVF and the IDC opened the 
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Cochrane highlighting how co-productions with South 

Africa work and their experiences while making the film. 

These sessions were hosted at the South African 

pavilion, which, over the years, has hosted over a 

thousand delegates. This has become a home base 

for all South African delegates as well as festival 

attendees who are interested in doing business with 

South Africa.

The seven filmmakers that the NFVF funded to attend 

the festival noted the potentially lucrative business 

meetings they had. 

Annecy International Animated Film Festival 
(Annecy) and MIFA 

Annecy is the leading animation festival in the world 

where talent is scouted by major animation studios 

from all over the world. Animation South Africa 

(ASA) supported by the NFVF, Department of Trade 

and Industry (DTI), Department of Arts and Culture 

(DAC), KwaZulu-Natal Film Commission (KZNFC) 

and WESGRO hosted a vibrant stand characterised 

by uniquely South African animation characters that 

captured the attention of all delegates. 

 

The South African delegation grew substantially in 2018 

with fourteen filmmakers in the delegation supported by 

the NFVF. The growth of the number of South African 

filmmakers attending this festival is directly correlated 

with Annecy and MIFA’s growth and importance as the 

meeting place for animators globally. 

 

The South African animation industry cemented its 

position as a key contributor when Belly Flop, an NFVF 

funded film, directed by Kelly Dillon and Jeremy Collins 

was one of the four short films that were screened 

during the closing night of the festival which took place 

on the 16th June 2018. Another proud moment for 

activities with a “Welcome cocktail” aimed at introducing 

international delegates to the South African film industry. 

This message was augmented at the Mannequin Films’ 

cocktail event where discussions were focused on 

promoting South African production services. 

Two South African films participated in the Cannes’ Un 

Certain Regard. Rafiki, a co-production between South 

Africa, Kenya, France, and Germany was applauded 

for not only delivering exceptional performances but 

also how it shines a light on the poignant LGBT issues 

of navigating life in many African communities. The 

film was fantastically received after its world premiere 

and picked up by Film Movement for North America 

distribution rights. 

The second South African film in the Cannes’ Un 

Certain Regard was The Harvesters/Die Stropper, the 

film is a co-production between South Africa, Greece, 

Poland, and France. The film was hailed by critics as 

“having a brilliantly attentive script”, and “mythical and 

timeless air” with “breathtaking scenes”.  

The NFVF used the inclusion of these two films in the 

official programme as an opportunity to present case 

studies around the hosting of co-production platforms 

for filmmakers. The Rafiki co-production session was 

held on the 12th May 2018. The panelists, who included 

Wanuri Kahiu - director from Kenya, Steven Markovitz 

- producer from South Africa and Tamsin Ranger  co-

producer from South Africa focused the discussion 

on the film’s funding model as well as taking the film 

industry stakeholders on the incredible journey taken 

to complete the film. 

The Harvesters/Die Stropper’s co-production session 

was hosted on the 13th  May 2018, with the film’s 

producer, Michael Auret and co-producer Thembisa 
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African content and to promote content produced in 

African countries. The Africa Hub also forms part of 

the NFVF’s focus on strengthening relationships with 

other African countries. 

South Africa was represented by the NFVF and 

Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) while Nigeria 

was represented by the National Film Video Censors 

Board and Namibia by the Namibia Film Commission. 

Three South African and SA co-produced films, Rafiki, 

Akasha and Sew Winter to My Skin were selected to 

officially screen at TIFF.

Independent Filmmaker Programme

The Independent Filmmaker Programme (IFP Film 

Week is the oldest and largest forum in the US for the 

discovery of new projects in development and new 

voices on the independent film scene, and will take 

place, as usual, following the Toronto Film Festival, in 

New York City. IFP Film Week is made up of the Screen 

Forward Conference, a week-long series of panel 

discussions open to attendees as well as the public, 

and the Project Forum.

(IFP) No Borders Co-Production Market takes place in 

Dumbo, Brooklyn in New York City. The National Film 

and Video Foundation has supported this initiative for 

the past 8 years as a means of promoting collaboration 

with international filmmakers and assisting filmmakers to 

raise finance and build their profiles on an international 

platform. This is in line with our mandate of:

 • developing and promoting the film and video 

industry

 • To nationally and internationally facilitate 

and promote liaison between individuals and 

institutions.

South African animation was when Isaac Mogajane’s 

Junk Pilots was announced for winning the Disney 

Channel Prize for a New Series Award during the 2018 

MIFA pitches. 

 

The focus of the NFVF’s activities was to create a unique 

opportunity to showcase the South African animation 

industry and to offer skills transfer opportunities for 

the young filmmakers that constituted the majority of 

the delegation.

 

The South African Territory Focus session was one of 

the key initiatives hosted by the NFVF. The selection 

was a combination of projects from new filmmakers 

in the animation industry; Rapulani and Rapunzel 

represented by, Yolanda Mogatusi, Ukuru represented 

by, Isaac Mogajane, Terrence Malukele and Simanga 

Sibaya, and Time Sliders represented by, Clare Louis 

and Siko represented by the more experienced 

Craig Parker and Jacques Bock. The session was 

an extension of the NFVF’s commitment to creating 

unique opportunities to globally position the South 

African film industry at key strategic platforms.

Toronto International Film Festival (TIFF)

The Africa Hub made its debut at the Toronto 

International Film Festival (TIFF) in 2018. The Africa 

Hub was conceptualised by national film funding 

bodies from South Africa, Nigeria, and Namibia in an 

attempt to augment African presence at international 

film festivals and markets. The term Africa Hub 

has been coined to represent a unified approach in 

positioning Africa as a lucrative film destination filled 

with numerous opportunities for collaboration and 

partnerships. The objectives of the hub is to promote 

co-productions, to build relationships with partners 

for best-practice sharing, open new markets for 
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The NFVF is one of the international sponsors of No 
Border and Spotlight on Documentaries. Through this 
programme, the NFVF is able to achieve its mission 
– “to collaborate with all stakeholders to enable the 
development and promotion of a transformed and 
thriving audio-visual industry”.

3 South African projects were selected to participate 
in the no borders international co-production market 
and spotlight on documentaries categories:
 • She Who Searches 
 • The Field 
 • Home

American Film Market
The NFVF joined forces with the Department of Trade 
Industry (DTI) which led a delegation of 12 South 
African producers that operate in the production 
service sector. The main objective of this initiative was 
to ensure that South African producers particularly, 
black production companies, continue to service 
United States productions. 

The DTI hosted a breakfast information session to 
launch the revised South African Incentives. The 
session also awarded South Africa an opportunity 
to promote South African content and explore co-
production opportunities. 

The delegation visited and engaged with key decision-
makers from mainstream studios such as Walt Disney, 
NBC Universal Studios and Sony Pictures.

Berlin International Film Festival (Berlinale)
Berlinale is one of the top film festivals where 
international filmmakers, crew, distributors and sales 
agents, along with enthusiastic fans from around the 
world, are shown over 400 films. During the year 
under review, Berlinale hosted the third edition of the 
Berlinale Africa Hub, a communication and networking 

platform for the African film industry. 
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The Berlinale Africa Hub is crucial for the South African 
film industry as it allows for other markets to have 
access to South African content, as well as exposing 
South African filmmakers to numerous opportunities 
for collaboration and partnerships.

Flatland a film by David Horler was the official opening 
film at the Berlin Film Festival’s Panorama section. 

Mpumelelo Mcata, Perivi Katjavivi, with Lindiwe 
Matshikiza, Jean-Pierre Bekolo, Sara Bletcher, Sarah 
Dawson, Rehad Desai had their World Premiere 
of Film Festival Film, a self-reflexive project 
documenting the film industry from the perspective of 
a young African director attending an international film 
festival. Looking for a producer for her debut film, she 
questions whether she will ever find her place in this 
world. Mother, I Am Suffocating. This Is My Last Film 
About You, a film by Lemohang Jeremiah Mosese also 
premiered at Berlinale. 

The NFVF hosted South Africa: Your Next Co-
Production Destination session at the Africa Hub. The 
main purpose of this session was to promote South 
Africa as a preferred filming destination and to present 

film incentives available in our country. 

NATIONAL DAYS

Africa Month 
During Africa month the NFVF in partnership with the 
Department of Arts and Culture, participates in the 
Africa Month programme, under the We Are Africa 
Festival Film Festival. The NFVF is mainly responsible 
for the film component of the programme.

The 2018 Africa Month theme was The Year of Nelson 
Mandela: Building a Better Africa and a Better 
World. For the fourth year in succession, festivals in 
three different provinces, Mpumalanga, Free State, 

Bloemfontein, and the Northern Cape.
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STRATEGIC MARKETS

BRICS Film Festival

South Africa assumed the BRICS rotational 

chairpersonship succeeding the People’s Republic 

of China in 2018 by hosting the 10th BRICS Summit 

and the 3rd BRICS Film Festival. The task of hosting 

the film festival was allocated to the Department of 

Arts and Culture and the NFVF was appointed as the 

implementing agency. 

The film festival  celebrated world-class film productions 

from the BRICS nations and had an objective to inspire 

more collaborations from all BRICS nations. 

The festival was hosted concurrently with The Durban 

International Film Festival (DIFF) in July 2018 and the 

delegation was made up of filmmakers from all BRICS 

countries.

Twenty-five films were screened during the duration of 

the festival and the films in competition, competed for 

the Golden Rhino award, inspired by the history behind 

the golden rhino that was discovered in Mapungubwe, 

the significance of the place, and the linkages with 

other countries in earlier centuries.

MIPCOM

The NFVF partnered with the Industrial Development 

Corporation (IDC) in leading a delegation of distributors 

and service production companies to MIPCOM with the 

objective of finding new partners to co-produce, co-

finance, promote and sell South African content. This 

was a new strategic approach that is meant to address 

the gap in the distribution of local content.

The following filmmakers were part of the festival as 

facilitators:

1. Vincent Moloi and some of the Tjovitjo crew 

members (South Africa)

2. Oshesheni Hiveluah (Namibia)

The following films were screened at the festival:

1. Kalushi

2. The Suit

3. Skulls of my people

The screenings were followed by a presentation by 

NFVF representatives covering the following aspects.

 • Opportunities available in the local film industry

 • Careers in the film industry

 • The make-up of the South African Film industry

 • Products and programmes offered by the NFVF

 • How to access and apply for programmes offered 

by the NFVF

These programmes are necessary interventions 

mainly for developing and attracting new audiences 

and also for helping the NFVF reach out to previously 

disadvantaged individuals in underserviced provinces. 

Youth Month 
The NFVF in partnership with the Namibia Film 

Commission (NFC), and the KwaZulu-Natal Film 

Commission (KZNFC) funded 10 short films which were 

developed and produced by 10 young filmmakers from 

South Africa and Namibia. The films premiered during 

youth month at Ster-Kinekor, Newton Junction. 

The theme for the premiere was “NFVF Igniting Youth 
Stories”. The initiative was a fantastic opportunity 

to allow the 10 young filmmakers an opportunity to 

create content, collaborate with their peers, showcase 

their films and expose them to the media.  
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 • Hot Docs Canadian International Documentary 

Festival (Hot Docs)

 • Cannes International Film Festival (Cannes)

 • Annecy Animated Film Festival (Annecy)

 • Durban International Film festival (DIFF)

 • Seoul Web Fest

 • Giffoni International Film Festival

 • Bucheon International Film Festival

 • African Film Festival

 • Die Sieriale  Film Festival

 • Deauville Green Awards Film Festivals

 • Edinburgh International Film Festival.

 • Dieciminuti Film Festival

 • Gatffest Film Festival

 • Nature Environment and Wildlife Filmmaker 

Congress

 • International Fantastic Festival

 • International Amsterdam Documentary Festival

 • European Film Festival

 • Clermont Film Festival

 • Berlin International Film Festival (Berlinale)

 • Kids Screen

 • Translivania Film Festival

 • New York African Film Festival

Strategy to overcome areas of underperformance

There were no areas of underperformance.

Changes to planned targets

There were no changes to planned targets.

AFRICA FOCUS 

FESPACO

The Pan-African Film and Television Festival of 

Ouagadougou (FESPACO), took place in Burkina Faso  

the 23rd February to 2nd March 2019. The South 

African delegation was led by the Department of 

Arts and Culture, National Film and Video Foundation 

(NFVF), and KwaZulu-Natal Film Commission (KZNF), 

alongside esteemed South African filmmakers who 

are on the rise within the African Film and Television 

Industry as a whole. 

Seven films were in the official selection for the 

FESPACO Awards and the film Five Fingers for 

Marseilles, by Michael Matthews and Sew the Winter 

to My Skin, by Jahmil XT Qubeka were nominated in 

the most prestigious category at FESPACO Festival, 

the Yennenga Gold Standard Award.

Supporting filmmakers to attend film festivals 
locally and globally

In an attempt to further expand the South African 

filmmaker footprint, the NFVF supports filmmakers 

to attend various film festivals and markets locally 

and around the world through a grant system.  To 

qualify for funding support, the filmmaker should have 

been invited to attend a festival, forum or market to 

participate in screening, forums or have a compelling 

reason and solid itinerary in the country of choice. 

Overall the NFVF funded 111 filmmakers to attend the 

following Festivals/Markets:
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12.5 PROGRAMME 5: ADMINISTRATION AND HUMAN RESOURCES

PROGRAMME DESCRIPTION

Purpose of programme

The Administration and Human Resources departments provide strategic oversight of the performance and overall 

service delivery of the NFVF. The overall objective is to improve efficiency and effectiveness in the management 

of the NFVF.  The administration department is responsible for ensuring good corporate governance and effective 

internal controls.  The human resources department ensures that the NFVF is adequately staffed to deliver on its 

mandate and service delivery objectives.

Strategic objectives related to administration and human resources

 • Maintenance of efficient and effective systems of financial, legislative and  administrative controls

 • Sound leadership, governance, and management

Administration and Human Resources 

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target 
to Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Entity 
Management

Effective 
reporting

Quarterly 
Reports 
submitted to 
DAC, National 
Treasury and 
Council

Quarterly 
reporting to 
Council, DAC 
and Treasury

Quarterly 
Reports 
submitted to 
DAC, National 
Treasury and 
Council

N/A N/A

Finance 
Administration

Effective 
governance

Unqualified 
audit report

Monthly 
management 
accounts

Monthly 
management 
accounts 
were 
prepared

N/A N/A

Risk 
Management

Risk register Risk 
assessment 
workshop was 
conducted 
in Feb 2017 
with Audit 
committee 
members in 
attendance and 
the risk register 
approved by 
Council

Conduct an 
annual risk 
assessment 
workshop

Risk 
assessment 
workshop 
was 
conducted in 
Feb 2018

N/A N/A
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Administration and Human Resources 

Strategic 
objectives

Performance 
Indicator

Actual 
Achievement 
2017/2018

Planned 
Target
2018/2019

Actual 
Achievement
2018/2019

Deviation from 
planned target 
to Actual 
Achievement 
2018/2019

Comment on 
deviations

Internal audit Internal audit 
function

5 Audits 
completed

4 internal 
audits 
annually

8 internal 
audits were 
completed 

4 As per the 
internal audit 
plan

Performance 
management 
system

To measure 
& align 
employee 
performance 
to service 
delivery 

PMS fully 
implemented

Implement 
PMS

PMS Fully 
Implemented

N/A N/A

Human 
Resource 
Development

To capacitate 
employees 
with skills & 
knowledge 
to assist 
with service 
delivery

9 staff trained 6 staff to be  
trained

14 staff 
trained

8 Budget 
available for 
additional 
staff to be 
trained

Labour and 
compliance

Annual HR 
policies 
reviewed 

Compliance 
with 
legislation

Annual HR 
policies were  
reviewed

N/A N/A

Payroll system Implement 
approved 
salary 
structure

Annual 
increases 
approved by 
Council and 
implemented

Implement 
approved 
structure

Approved 
structure fully 
implemented

N/A N/A

Strategy to overcome areas of under performance

There were no areas of underperformance.

Changes to planned targets

There were no changes to planed targets.
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GOVERNANCE  

PART C: 
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13. INTRODUCTION TO OUR GOVERNANCE MODEL

The Corporate Governance Principles and Practice of the NFVF are based on relevant legislation 

(incorporating the National Film and Video Foundation Act, as amended by the Cultural Laws 

Amendment Act, 36 of 2001, the Public Finance Management Act, 1 of 1999), and take into account 

the Protocol on Corporate Governance in the Public Sector, Notice 637 of 2002, as well as the King 

Report on Corporate Governance in South Africa, 2002 (“King Report”).

The NFVF recognises the significance of good governance in the public sector, which is crucial for 

effective public service delivery and improved social outcomes.  The NFVF is committed to ensuring 

good governance throughout the organisation by observing the principles of the King Report, where 

possible, within the parameters of public sector legislation.  All employees and Council Members of 

the NFVF are expected to conduct the affairs of the NFVF in accordance with the law, and the spirit 

of the corporate governance principles and practices, which requires a separation of organisational 

and private interests and the adoption of ethical standards of business.

The Council and Management of the NFVF ensure that processes and practices are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis to ensure adherence to good corporate governance practices, which are continually 

benchmarked against international best-practice.

The Council and Management believe that the organisation has substantially applied and complied 

with the principles incorporated in the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct as set out in the 

King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002, as well as the Protocol on Corporate 

Governance in the Public Sector 2002.
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14. EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY 

The Executive Authority of the NFVF is the Minister of 
Arts and Culture. For the year under review, the NFVF 
submitted the following reports on the dates specified:

 • Annual Performance Plan and Strategic Plan for 
2018/19 – 31st January 2018

 • 1st Quarterly Report – 31st July 2018
 • 2nd Quarterly Report – 31st October 2018
 • 3rdQuarterly Report – 31st January 2019
 • 4th Quarterly Report – 31st April 2019

15. THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY

Introduction
In terms of section 6 of the NFVF Act, the NFVF 
functions under the guidance of a Council, appointed 
by the Minister of Arts and Culture.  The Council bears 
primary responsibility for discharging the statutory 
mandate of the NFVF as set out in the NFVF Act.  The 
Chief Executive Officer, management and staff exist 
to support the Council in executing its responsibilities.

The purpose of the Council is to direct the affairs of the 

NFVF in fulfilling its statutory obligations set out in the 

NFVF Act and to give strategic direction to the NFVF.

The role of the Council is to:

 • Carry out its statutory mandate under the NFVF 

Act

 • Define and ensure compliance with the values and 

objectives of the NFVF

 • Establish policies and plans to achieve those 

objectives

 • Approve each year’s strategy and Annual 

Performance Plan, budget and Annual Financial 

Statements before publication

In accordance with section 8(1) of the NFVF Act, Council 

meetings were held on 29th  May 2018, 27th  August 

2018, 04th  September 2018, 11th  September 2018, 1st  

October 2018, 2nd  November 2018, 6th  December 

2018, 31st  January 2019, and 28th  March 2019.
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Name Designation Date 
appointed

Date 
resigned

Other Committees (e.g. 
Audit committee)

No. of 
Meetings 
attended

Mr. Phillip Molefe Chairperson 01 May 2017 Executive Committee 8

Ms. Zimkhitha Zatu Deputy 
Chairperson 01 May 2017 Executive Committee 9

Adv. Dimakatso 
Qocha Council Member 01 May 2017 HR Committee 9

Ms. Zanele Mthembu Council Member 01 May 2017 5

Ms. Pamela Mashiane Council Member 01 May 2017 November 
2018

Executive Committee / 
Panel Chair 4

Mr. Thabiso 
Masudubele Council Member 01 May 2017 August 2018 Executive Committee / 

Panel Chair 4

Mr. Shadrack Bokaba Council Member 01 May 2017 May 2018 Audit Committee / HR 
Committee 3

Mr. Mfundo Ntsibande Council Member 01 May 2017 5

Dr. Siphelo Ngcwangu Council Member 01 May 2017 Executive Committee / 
Panel Chair 6

Ms. Fikile Masiko Council Member 01 May 2017 HR Committee 3

Mr. Lebohang 
Seperepere Council Member 01 May 2017 May 2018

Executive Committee / 
Audit Committee / HR 
Committee

2

Mr. Jeremiah 
Mofokeng Council Member 01 May 2017 HR Committee 8

Mr. Delon Bakker Council Member 01 May 2017 August 2017 0
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Name 2018/19 2017/18

Mr. Phillip Molefe (Chairperson) 140 117 223 564

Ms. Zimkhitha Zatu (Deputy Chairperson) 117 537 175 370

Ms. Pamela Mashiane (Resigned) 103 906 235 941

Mr. Thabiso Masudubele (Resigned) 61 297 271 121

Dr. Siphelo Ngcwangu 90 267 175 634

Mr. Jeremiah Mofokeng 125 553 137 733

Adv. Dimakatso Qocha 148 658 95 450

Mr. Shadrack Bokaba 10 479 147 440

Ms. Zanele Mthembu 110 826 121 811

Mr. K. Motsoane 23 738

Ms. Fikile Masiko 20 958

Mr Mfundo Ntsibande 13 972

Mr Lebohang Seperepere (Resigned)  28 716

Mr. Delon Bekker (Resigned) 74 492

Former Council - ended 30 April 2017  55 010

TOTAL 932 378 1 777 212

REMUNERATION OF BOARD MEMBERS
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16. RISK MANAGEMENT

Nature of risk management 

Risk Management encompasses the culture, 

processes, and structures that are directed towards 

the effective management of potential opportunities 

and adverse effects within the NFVF.  The realisation 

of the organisation’s business strategy depends on 

its ability to take calculated risks in a way that does 

not jeopardise the direct interests of stakeholders. 

Sound management of risk through the NFVF’s risk 

management system enables the organisation to 

anticipate and respond to changes in its business 

environment and to make informed decisions in 

conditions of uncertainty.

Risk management strategies to identify risks and 
manage the risks

A Risk Assessment Workshop was conducted 

with Audit Committee members and the Executive 

Management team on the 20th February 2018 to 

review and update the NFVF Risk Register. Based on 

the outcomes of the risk assessment, a three-year 

Rolling Internal Audit Plan was drafted, presented and 

approved by the Audit Committee. 

Progress made in addressing risks identified 

Based on the control improvement plan identified at the 

risk assessment workshop, the NFVF has undertaken 

the following:

 • Signed a shareholders compact with DAC

 • Continued to lead industry-wide initiatives to 

improve funding for the industry

 • Reviewed its finance, HR, IT and business-related 

policies and procedures

 • Updated the funding policy, amongst others

 • Reviewed and approved the Council and Audit 

Committee Charters

 • Council evaluation of all committees

 • Review of NFVF reputation and image and 

undertake steps to re-instate a good reputation

17. INTERNAL CONTROL 

The NFVF is a section 3A Public Entity that is guided 

by both the principles set out in the NFVF Act as well 

as the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA). As 

such, its objectives are to ensure a fully functioning 

and efficient NFVF office that fulfils its statutory 

obligations in terms of the NFVF Act and the PFMA 

and fully meets the service delivery needs of its 

stakeholders. This means that firstly, the NFVF needs 

to have adequate resources to fulfil its mandate and 

secondly to implement and maintain efficient and 

effective corporate governance and internal control 

systems.

During the year under review the NFVF has:

 • Ensured financial compliance with the NFVF Act and 

the PFMA as well as financial and legal compliance 

with other statutory bodies (e.g. SARS);

 • Ensured an efficient NFVF office that successfully 

meets the needs of its various stakeholders;

 • Maintained an administration system that ensures 

the productivity and quality of the NFVF office;

 • Overall, maintained an effective and efficient 

supply chain management system;

 • Identified and managed risks by holding an annual 

risk workshop which culminated in an annual 

internal audit plan and a risk register;

 • Ensured good corporate governance by having 

regular committee meetings including the Audit 

Committee, Human Resources Committee and 

Exco, etc. as well as having a fully functioning and 
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efficient internal audit function; and 

 • Ensured that the HR Policies and Procedures are in 

line with the legislature and best practice

During the year 2017/18, there were instances of 

irregular expenditure relating to non-compliance 

with SCM and deficient budget management which 

indicated a failure in some internal controls.  NFVF has 

strengthened its internal controls by implementing the 

following:

 • Filled a vacant position of CFO which had been 

vacant for 6 months of the 2017/18 financial 

year with a suitably skilled and well-experienced 

permanent CFO as of 1 July 2018.

 • Through its Audit Committee, instituted an SCM 

processes review/audit by NFVF internal auditors 

SNG.

18. INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT 
COMMITTEES

Key activities and objectives of the internal audit 

Internal audit is an independent, objective assurance 

and consulting activity designed to add value and 

improve the NFVF’s operations. It assists the NFVF in 

accomplishing its objectives by bringing a systematic 

disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 

effectiveness of risk management, control, and the 

governance process.

Consistent with the above, the primary objectives of 

the Internal Audit Function are:

 • To evaluate the effectiveness of the risk 

management process of the NFVF, and suggest 

improvements in relation.

 • To evaluate the design adequacy and effectiveness 

of NFVF’s internal control system as a contribution 

to the economic, effective and efficient use of 

resources, and suggest improvements related in 

relation.

 • To evaluate NFVF’s process of governance, and 

suggest improvements related in relation.

The activities performed by the Internal Audit Function 

in executing its responsibilities include:

 • Reviewing operations or programmes to ascertain 

whether results are consistent with established 

objectives and goals and whether operations or 

programmes are being carried out as planned;

 • Assisting management in identifying business 

risks and assessing the adequacy of their risk 

management processes;

 • Appraisal of the economy, effectiveness, and 

efficiency with which resources are employed;

 • Evaluating the effectiveness of controls over 

the reliability and integrity of information for 

management purposes; and 

 • Ascertaining the level of the NFVF’s compliance 

with relevant policies, plans, procedures, laws, and 

regulations.

The NFVF’s internal audit was performed by 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo.

Summary of audit work done 

During the 2018/19 financial year, a risk assessment was 

conducted. Based on the outcomes of the assessment 

and in terms of the three-year rolling internal audit 

plan, the following audits were conducted:

 • Audit of pre-determined objectives; 

 • Project Funding Audit;

 • Governance Review;

 • Financial discipline review; 
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 • Bursary Funding audit; and

 • Supply Chain Management Audit (draft completed April 2018)

Key activities and objectives of the audit committee 

The primary purpose of the NFVF Audit Committee is to assist the Council in fulfilling its oversight responsibility 

relating to the financial activities of the Foundation, in terms of the NFVF Act and the PFMA, (which includes 

responsibilities regarding safeguarding of assets, operating effective systems of internal control, financial 

management and preparing annual financial statements) by reviewing:

 • The systems of internal control (financial, operational and compliance) that management have established;

 • NFVF’s auditing, accounting, and financial reporting processes generally; and

 • The integrity of financial reporting and other information provided by the NFVF to the Minister of Arts and 

Culture, any government body or the public.
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19. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS

The NFVF regularly monitors changes in legislation, 

policies and procedures are reviewed and updated to 

take into account legislative changes and updates.

20. FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The NFVF has a fraud prevention plan in place.  All new 

staff are inducted on the plan and regular workshops 

are held with all staff to familiarise them with the plan.  

The NFVF is also a participant in the DAC’s fraud and 

corruption campaign.

21. MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The NFVF has developed a conflict of interest policy 

which has been approved by Council.  All Council, 

committee and panel members are required to sign 

a declaration of conflict of interest form at every 

meeting.  Staff members must sign a declaration of 

conflict of interest form on an annual basis.

22. CODE OF CONDUCT

The purpose of the code of conduct is to provide clear 

guidelines on how employees should conduct themselves 

during their employment at the NFVF.  The code sets out 

the acceptable business conduct and practices.

The code of conduct is reviewed together with the 

organisational policies and procedures on an annual 

basis. Staff members are made aware of the code of 

conduct and any revisions during the annual workshop 

and during induction for new employees.  In the event 

of a breach of the code of conduct, the normal HR 

processes as outlined in the HR policies will be followed.

23. HEALTH, SAFETY, AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES

The NFVF complies with the Occupational Health and 
Safety (OHS) Act and contributes to the workman’s 
compensation.  All staff is made aware of the health 
and safety requirements including but not limited to 
the following:

 • Adequate signage;
 • An easily-accessible fire extinguisher; and
 • A well-rehearsed evacuation strategy

24. AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

We are pleased to present our report for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2019.

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Audit Committee reports that it has complied 
with its responsibilities arising from Section 51 (1)(a)(ii) 
of the Public Finance Management Act and Treasury 
Regulation 27.1. The Audit Committee also reports that 
it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference 
as its Audit Committee Charter, which has been 
confirmed by the Council of the National Film and 
Video Foundation (NFVF), has regulated its affairs in 
compliance with this charter and has discharged all its 
responsibilities as contained therein. 

Audit Committee Members and Attendance
The Audit Committee consists of the members listed 
hereunder and have met the minimum required three 
times per annum as per its approved charter. During 
the year under review, the committee met on 24nd 
May 2018, 26th July 2018, 21th November 2018 and 
12th March 2019.

Name of Member
 • Mr Siyakhula Vilakazi – External member 

(Chairperson) (Resigned 06 September 2018)
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The following were areas of concern:
 • IT Control Environment

Systems Controls continue to be reviewed and 
enhanced in order to strengthen the IT Control 
Environment.

In-Year Management and Monthly/Quarterly Report
The public entity has submitted all quarterly reports to 
the Council and Executive Authority.

Performance Management
Part of the responsibilities of the audit committee 
includes the review of performance management. 

The audit committee has in terms of the performance 
of the entity performed the following functions:
 • Reviewed and commented on compliance 

with statutory requirements and performance 
management best practices and standards;

 • Reviewed the reported non-compliance with 
legislation;

 • Reviewed the quarterly performance reports; and
 • Reviewed and commented on the entity’s 

performance management system and 
recommendations for its improvement.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has:
 • Reviewed and discussed the audited Annual 

Financial Statements of the NFVF to be included 
in the Annual Report, with the Auditor-General and 
the Accounting Officer;

 • Reviewed the Auditor-General’s management 
letter and management’s responses thereto;

 • Reviewed changes in accounting policies and 
practices; and

 • Reviewed any significant adjustments resulting 
from the audit; 

The Committee is satisfied that these statements 
comply, in all material respects, with the requirements 
of the PFMA, 1999, as amended, and the South African 
Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP). 

 • Ms Lesego Sennelo - External member 
(Chairperson) (Resigned 31 March 2019)

 • Ms Phuthanang Motsielwa - External member
 • Mr Lebohang Seperepere - Council member 

(Resigned 30 June 2018)
 • Mr Kgotso Motsoane – Council member 

(Appointed 30 September 2018)
 • Ms Zanele Nkosi (Appointed 14 December 2018)

The Effectiveness of Internal Control 
The system of internal controls is designed to provide 
cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
liabilities and working capital are efficiently managed. In 
line with the PFMA and the King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance requirements, internal audit provides the 
Audit Committee and management with assurance that 
the internal controls are appropriate and effective. This 
is achieved by means of the risk management process, 
as well as the identification of corrective actions and 
suggested enhancements to the controls and processes.

From the various reports of the internal auditors and the 
Auditor General’s Audit Report on the Annual Financial 
Statements, it was noted there were no reported 
material non-compliances with prescribed policies 
and procedures. This is as a result of the emphasis 
on strengthening our control environment during the 
2018/19 financial year. 

Our review of the findings of the Internal Audit work, 
which was based on the risk assessments conducted in 
the NFVF revealed certain weaknesses, which continue 
to be addressed so as to strengthen the risk maturity of 
the public entity. 

The following internal audit work was completed during 
the year under review:
 • Audit of pre-determined objectives
 • Financial Management and Follow-up Reviews
 • IT General Control Review
 • IT Security Review
 • Human Resources Management
 • Stakeholder Management
 • Supply Chain Management 
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Auditor’s Report

We have reviewed the Public Entity’s implementation plan for audit issues raised in the prior year and we are 

satisfied that the matters have been adequately resolved. 

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the conclusions of the Auditor-General on the annual financial 

statements and is of the opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together 

with the report of the Auditor-General.

_________________

Lesego Sennelo
Chairperson of the Audit Committee
National Film and Video Foundation

31 July 2019
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

PART D: 
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25. INTRODUCTION TO OUR HUMAN 
RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

OVERVIEW

The HR priorities for 2018/2019 and their impact 

Align the organisational structure to the organisation’s 
strategic objectives
The organisational structure ensures that the NFVF has 
the right number of staff to enable the organisation to 
achieve its strategic objectives. The positions approved 
by Council were filled within the period under review. 

Implement an enhanced Performance Management 
System
The staff continues to embrace the 360o Performance 
Management System.  This is an assessment system 
that allows a comprehensive performance assessment 
of staff. The system offers staff an opportunity to 
measure their individual contribution to the overall 
organisational performance.

Human Capital Development
Training priorities are identified when performance 
reviews are conducted. These training needs are 
compiled into a work skills plan document submitted 
to the SETA.  Employees are trained in line with the 
work skills plan and budget allocated. The training 
budget was stretched to empower 8 additional staff 
members. Developing staff ensures that they are fully 
capacitated to meet organisational objectives.

Employee Wellness
Staff was introduced to an external wellness service 
provider, where they and their immediate family 
members have 24-hour access to a wealth of 
health and wellness related solutions. This ensured 
confidentiality at all times with any wellness related 
issue they may have.  In addition, a two-day financial 
wellness workshop was held, followed by an annual 

wellness day event.
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Labour and Compliance

HR Policies are reviewed on an annual basis and are approved by the Council.  Once approved, NFVF staff members 

are taken through changes and implications.  The workshop was held during the first quarter of the year.

Performance Reward System

Employee performance reward is attached to the level of performance as stipulated in the organisational 

performance management framework. 

 

Mentorship program:

Formal mentoring programmes are implemented to address challenges such as retaining and engaging employees, 

accelerating learning and building succession pools.  The focus has been placed from 2nd level managers and below, 

as they continue being capacitated with overall management experience through various programmes offered by 

reputable institutions. Mentoring remains an important part of the NFVF’s learning and development offering.

Plans for the year ahead 

The overarching purpose of the department continues to ensure that the programmes are in line with the overall 

objective of sound leadership and governance. The major emphasis will be on solidifying the talent management 

framework which addresses programmes such as mentorship, career development, and succession planning.  The 

wellness program remains a key part of maintaining employee engagement.

26. HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS

Personnel Cost by programme

Programme
Personnel 
Expenditure 
(R’000)

% of personnel 
exp. to total 
personnel cost 

No. of employees

Average 
personnel cost 
per employee 
(R’000)

Training & Skill Development 75 798.85 15.00% 1 75 798.85

Policy & Research 43 600.00 10.00% 3 14 533.33

Production & Development 58 500.00 11.00% 1 58 500.00

Marketing & Distribution 91 440.00 18.00% 2 45 720.00

CEO, Finance & Centralised 
Services 231 742.70 46.00% 7 33 106.10

Total 501 081.55 100% 14 227 658.28
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Level 
Personnel 
Expenditure 
(R’000)

% of personnel exp. 
to total personnel 
cost 

No. of employees
Average personnel 
cost per employee 
(R’000)

Top Management 1 688 370.52 10.84% 2 844 185.26

Senior Management 2 298 762.44 14.76% 6 383 127.07

Middle Management 6 126 618.48 39.35% 9 680 735.38

Professional qualified 5 230 191.96 33.59% 16 326 886.99

Semi-skilled 134 371.44 0.86% 1 134 371.44

Unskilled 91 053.96 0.58% 1 91 053.96

TOTAL 15 569 368.80

Personnel cost by salary band

Performance Rewards

Programme Performance rewards Personnel Expenditure 
(R’000)

% of performance 
rewards  to total 
personnel cost (R’000)

Top Management 0 0 0%

Senior Management 85 665.57 85 665.57 10.39%

Middle Management 323 288.79 46 184.11 39.23%

Professional qualified 396 664.03 28 333.14 48.14%

Semi-skilled 13 464.67 13 464.67 1.63%

Unskilled 4 895.90 4 895.90 0.59%

TOTAL 823 978.96 178 543.39 100%
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Training Costs 

Personnel 
Expenditure 
(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure
(R’000)

Training 
Expenditure as a % 
of Personnel Cost.

No. of employees 
trained

Average training  
cost per employee

507 081.55 507 081.55 100% 14 36 220.11

Employment and vacancies by programme

Programme No. of 
Employees as 
of 31 March 
2019

2018/2019
Approved 
Posts

No. of 
Employees as 
of 31 March 
2019

Vacancies as 
at 31 March 
2019

% of 
vacancies

Training & Skills Development 2 2 2 0 6.45%

Policy & Research 4 6 4 2 12.90%

Production & Development 6 5 5 0 19.35%

Marketing & Distribution 5 6 4 2 16.12%

HR, Finance & CEO 14 13 11 2 45.16%

TOTAL 31 32 26 6 100%

Employment and vacancies by salary band

Programme
No. of 
Employees as of 
31 March 2019

2018/2019
Approved 
Posts

No. of Employees as 
of 31 March 2019

Vacancies as at 
31 March 2019

% of 
vacancies

Top Management 1 1 1 1 3.22%

Senior Management 3 3 3 0 0%

Middle Management 9 13 9 4 12.90%

Professional qualified 16 18 16 2 6.45%

Semi-skilled 1 1 1 0 0%

Unskilled 1 1 1 0 0%

TOTAL 31 37 31 7
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Employment changes

Salary Band Employment at 
beginning of period Appointments Terminations Employment at 

end of period

Top Management 1 1 1 1

Senior Management 5 2 4 3

Middle Management 9 2 2 9

Professional qualified 14 5 3 19

Semi-skilled 1 0 0 1

Unskilled 1 0 0 1

Total 31 10 10 34

Reasons for staff leaving 

Reason Number % of total no. of staff leaving

Death 0

Resignation 8 25.00%

Dismissal 0

Retirement 0

Ill health 0

Expiry of contract 6 19.35%

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

Nature of Disciplinary Action Number 

Verbal Warning 0

Written Warning 0

Final Written warning 0

Dismissal 0
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Employment Equity Status 

Levels Male

African Coloured Indian White

Current Current Current Current

Top Management 1 0 0 0

Senior Management 0 0 0 0

Middle Management 4 0 0 0

Professional qualified 2 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 0 0 0 0

Unskilled 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 7 0 0 0

Levels Female

African Coloured Indian White

Current Current Current Current

Top Management 0 0 0 0

Senior Management 3 0 0 0

Middle Management 5 0 0 0

Professional qualified 14 0 0 0

Semi-skilled 1 0 0 0

Unskilled 1 0 0 0

TOTAL 24 0 0 0
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

PART E: 
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NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 
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The annual financial statements set out on page 90 to 118 were approved by the Accounting Authority 

on 31 May 2019 and are signed by: 

------------------------------------------ 

Mr Phillip Molefe 
Chairperson 
NFVF 
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28. STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 

Statement of Responsibility for the Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation of the public entity’s annual financial statements and 

for the judgements made in this information.

The Accounting Authority is responsible for establishing, and implementing a system of internal control designed to 

provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the annual financial statements.

In my opinion, the financial statements fairly reflect the operations of the public entity for the financial year ended 

31 March 2019.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the Annual Financial Statements of the 

Public Entity. 

The National Film and Video Foundation annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have been 

audited by the external auditors and their report is presented on page 90.

The Annual Financial Statements of the Public Entity set out on page 93 to page 118 have been approved by the 

Accounting Authority.

Yours faithfully,

________________

Mr. Phillip Molefe 
Chairperson, National Film and Video Foundation
31 July 2019

__________________ 

Mr. Shadrack Bokaba
Acting-Chief Executive Officer, National Film and Video Foundation
31 July 2019
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of the 

National Film and Video Foundation set out on 
page 93 to 118, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statement 
of financial performance, statement of changes 
in equity and cash flow statement for the year 
then ended, as well as the notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

2. In my opinion, the financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of National Film and Video Foundation as at 31 
March 2019, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA 
Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the 
Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 

1999) (PFMA). 

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the 

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements section of 
this auditor’s report.

4. I am independent of the public entity in 
accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics 
for professional accountants (IESBA code) and 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to my 
audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements and the IESBA code.

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON 
NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION  

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

my opinion.

Responsibilities of accounting authority for the 
financial statements

6. The accounting authority is responsible for the 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

statements in accordance with SA Standards of 

GRAP, the requirements of the PFMA, and for 

such internal control as the accounting authority 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

7. In preparing the financial statements, the 

accounting authority is responsible for assessing 

the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the appropriate governance 

structure either intends to liquidate the public 

entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements
8. My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these financial statements. 
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13. I performed procedures to determine whether 
the reported performance information was 
properly presented and whether performance 
was consistent with the approved performance 
planning documents. I performed further 
procedures to determine whether the indicators 
and related targets were measurable and relevant, 
and assessed the reliability of the reported 
performance information to determine whether it 
was valid, accurate and complete.

14. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness 
and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following objectives:
 » Programme 1 - Production and Development of 

Content
 » Programme 2 - Training and skills development  
 » Programme 3 - Policy and Research 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF COMPLIANCE 
WITH LEGISLATION

Introduction and scope
15. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 

issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to 
report material findings on the compliance of the 
public entity with specific matters in key legislation. 
I performed procedures to identify findings but 
not to gather evidence to express assurance. I did 
not identify any significant deficiencies in internal 

control.

9. A further description of my responsibilities for the 

audit of the financial statements is included in the 

annexure to this auditor’s report.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL 
PERFORMANCE REPORT

Introduction and scope

10. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South 

Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PAA) and the 

general notice issued in terms thereof, I have 

a responsibility to report material findings on 

the reported performance information against 

predetermined objectives for selected objectives 

presented in the annual performance report. I 

performed procedures to identify findings but not 

to gather evidence to express assurance.

11. My procedures address the reported performance 

information, which must be based on the approved 

performance planning documents of the public 

entity. I have not evaluated the completeness and 

appropriateness of the performance indicators 

included in the planning documents. My procedures 

also did not extend to any disclosures or assertions 

relating to planned performance strategies and 

information in respect of future periods that may 

be included as part of the reported performance 

information. Accordingly, my findings do not 

extend to these matters. 

12. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the 

reported performance information in accordance 

with the criteria developed from the performance 

management and reporting framework, as defined 

in the general notice, for the following selected 

objectives presented in the annual performance 

report of the public entity for the year ended 31 

March 2019:

Programmes Pages in the annual 
performance report

Programme 1: Production 
and Development of 
Content 

23 - 26

Programme 2: Training and 
skills development  27 - 35

Programme 3: Policy and 
Research 36 - 50

Programme 4: Marketing 
and Communication 51 -62
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of this other information, I am required to report 

that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard. 

When I do receive and read the final annual report, 

if I conclude that there is a material misstatement 

therein, I am required to communicate the matter 

to those charged with governance and request 

that the other information be corrected. If the other 

information is not corrected, I may have to retract 

this auditor’s report and re-issue an amended 

report as appropriate. However, if it is corrected 

this will not be necessary.

INTERNAL CONTROL DEFICIENCIES

20. I considered internal control relevant to my audit 

of the financial statements, reported performance 

information and compliance with applicable 

legislation; however, my objective was not to 

express any form of assurance on it. I did not 

identify any significant deficiencies in internal 

control.

Johannesburg

31 July 2019

OTHER INFORMATION

16. The accounting authority is responsible for the 

other information. The other information comprises 

the information included in the annual report, 

which includes the directors’ report, the audit 

committee’s report. The other information does 

not include the financial statements, the auditor’s 

report and those selected objectives presented 

in the annual performance report that have been 

specifically reported in this auditor’s report. 

17. My opinion on the financial statements and findings 

on the reported performance information and 

compliance with legislation do not cover the other 

information and I do not express an audit opinion 

or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

18. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is 

to read the other information and, in doing so, 

consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements and 

the selected objectives presented in the annual 

performance report, or my knowledge obtained in 

the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.

19. The other information I obtained prior to the date 

of this auditor’s report is a draft annual report and 

the final annual report is expected to be made 

available to us after 31 July 2019.  If, based on the 

work I have performed on the other information that 

I obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, 

I conclude that there is a material misstatement 
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accounting in the preparation of the financial 

statements. I also conclude, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 

I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements about the material uncertainty or, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

the opinion on the financial statements. My 

conclusions are based on the information 

available to me at the date of this auditor’s 

report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause a public entity to cease continuing 

as a going concern.

 » Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 

and content of the financial statements, 

including the disclosures, and whether the 

financial statements represent the underlying 

transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

Communication with those charged with governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority 

regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that I identify during my audit. 

4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I 

have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and communicate 

all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to have a bearing on my 

independence and, where applicable, related 

safeguards. 

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, 

I exercise professional judgement and maintain 

professional scepticism throughout my audit of 

the financial statements, and the procedures 

performed on reported performance information 

for selected objectives and on the public entity’s 

compliance with respect to the selected subject 

matters.

Financial statements

2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the 

financial statements as described in this auditor’s 

report, I also: 

 » Identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements 

whether due to fraud or error, design and 

perform audit procedures responsive to those 

risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 

involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal 

control.

 » Obtain an understanding of internal control 

relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the public entity’s internal control.

 » Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures 

made by the accounting authority.

 » Conclude on the appropriateness of the board 

of directors, which constitutes the accounting 

authority’s use of the going concern basis of 

ANNEXURE – AUDITOR-GENERAL’S RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR THE AUDIT 
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Restated
Note March March

2019 2018
ASSETS

Current Assets 107 843 857 70 723 223
Cash and cash equivalents 14 94 110 761 63 996 142
Trade and other receivables 5,1 13 352 184 6 582 403
Prepayments 5,2 380 913 144 679

Non Current Assets 7 073 761 9 198 033
Plant and Equipment 3 5 372 525 6 472 680
Intangible assets 4 1 361 262 2 385 379
Rental deposit 15,3 339 974 339 974

TOTAL ASSETS 114 917 618 79 921 256

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 55 069 654 45 603 659
Trade and other payables 6,1 4 343 524 3 693 735
Provisions 6,2 49 715 294 40 899 088
Income received in advance 7 1 010 836 1 010 836

Non-Current Liabilities 48 699 243 39 943 314
Provisions 6,2 47 839 815 39 356 195
Operating lease liability 15,2 859 429 587 119

TOTAL LIABILITIES 103 768 897 85 546 972

NET ASSETS
Accumulated surplus / (deficit) 11 148 755 (5 625 716)

TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 114 917 653 79 921 256

NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 
31 MARCH 2019 
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NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 
31 MARCH 2019 

Restated
Note 2019 2019 2018

Approved
Actual Budget Actual

R R R

Revenue 149 029 965 133 472 000 145 987 210
Non-exchange 8,1 133 506 821 133 472 000 129 097 396
Exchange 8,2 15 523 144 - 16 889 815

Grant expense 9 (93 729 748) (96 135 000) (116 703 747)

Gross profit 55 300 217 37 337 000 29 283 463

Other income 8,3 222 420 - 85 662

Operating expenses 10 (42 340 751) (40 937 000) (40 302 590)

Loss on disposal of Plant and Equipment 3 & 4 - - (219 073)

Surplus/(Deficit) from operations 13 181 886 (3 600 000) (11 152 538)

Investment income 12 3 592 586 3 600 000 3 641 086

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 22 16 774 471 - (7 511 452)

NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION     
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
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Accumulated Total
Note surplus Net Assets / (Liabilities)

R R

Balance as at 31 March 2015 4 490 150 4 490 150

Surplus for the year 1 871 364 1 871 364

Correction of error (136 965) (136 965)

Balance as at 31 March 2016 6 224 549 6 224 549

Surplus for the year (4 338 813) (4 338 813)

Balance as at 31 March 2017 1 885 736 1 885 736

(Deficit) for the year (6 345 887) (6 345 887)

Correction of error 11 (1 165 565) (1 165 565)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 (5 625 716) (5 625 716)

Surplus for the year 16 774 471 16 774 471

Balance as at 31 March 2019 11 148 755 11 148 755

NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET ASSETS FOR  
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
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Accumulated Total
Note surplus Net Assets / (Liabilities)

R R

Balance as at 31 March 2015 4 490 150 4 490 150

Surplus for the year 1 871 364 1 871 364

Correction of error (136 965) (136 965)

Balance as at 31 March 2016 6 224 549 6 224 549

Surplus for the year (4 338 813) (4 338 813)

Balance as at 31 March 2017 1 885 736 1 885 736

(Deficit) for the year (6 345 887) (6 345 887)

Correction of error 11 (1 165 565) (1 165 565)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 (5 625 716) (5 625 716)

Surplus for the year 16 774 471 16 774 471

Balance as at 31 March 2019 11 148 755 11 148 755

NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET ASSETS FOR  
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

Restated
Note 2019 2018

Actual Actual
R R

Cash flow from operating activities

Cash Receipts 149 252 385 146 072 873
Non-exchange 133 506 821 129 097 396
Exchange 15 523 144 16 889 815
Other income 222 420 85 662

Cash Payments (122 201 711) (141 576 523)
Employee costs (23 377 203) (23 519 076)
Suppliers (98 824 508) (118 057 447)

Net Cash flows from operating activities 13 27 050 673 4 496 350

Cash flow from investing activities

Purchase of Property and Equipment 3 (356 828) (3 325 133)
Purchase of intangible assets 4 (171 812) (432 869)

Investment revenue 12 3 592 586 3 641 086

Net Cash flows used in investing activities 3 063 946 (116 915)

Net Increase in cash and cash equivalents 30 114 619 4 379 435
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 63 996 142 59 616 707
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 94 110 761 63 996 142

NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR  
ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
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1. Basis of preparation

The annual financial statements of the NFVF have been prepared in accordance with the effective 

South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice ( GRAP) including any 

interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The following are the principal accounting policies of the NFVF which are prepared on an accrual 

basis and in all material respects, consistent with those applied in the previous year. The annual 

financial statements of the NFVF have been prepared on the historical cost and going concern basis.

2.1 Significant accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the NFVF accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 

apparent from other sources. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 

historical experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 

be reasonable under the circumstances.

These estimates and assumptions do however affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at 

the Statement of Financial Position date, as well as the reported income and expenditure recorded 

in the Statement of Financial Performance. Although these estimates are Revisions to accounting 

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only 

that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 

future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the key assumptions and judgements concerning the future, that have a significant 

risk of causing adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 

year:

Estimates
Trade Receivables

The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In 

determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, management 

makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the 

estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Provisions

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. 

NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Additional disclosure of these estimates of provisions is included in note 6.2 to the annual financial 

statements.

Useful life and residual value of property and equipment

As described in the accounting policy of property and equipment, the NFVF reviews the estimated 

useful lives of property and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. During the review, 

management determines whether the useful lives of certain equipment should be lengthened, 

due to the condition and the continuous use of certain of the assets. The financial effect of this 

assessment, assuming the assets are held until the end of their revised estimated useful lives, is to 

reduce the depreciation expense in the current financial year. The annual depreciation charge will 

be adjusted for any changes in these estimates (refer to note 3 & 4). These estimates are based on 

managements experience, knowledge and current expectations.

Judgements
Leases

Management has applied its judgment to classify all lease agreements that the NFVF is party to as 

operating leases if the lease does not transfer substantially all risks and rewards of ownership to the 

foundation, or the other recognition criteria is met in terms of GRAP 13 to classify leases as operating 

leases.

2.2 Revenue

Revenue comprises gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received and receivable 

by the NFVF, which represents an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions 

from owners.

2.2.1 Revenue from Non Exchange Transactions

In a non-exchange transaction, the NFVF either receives value from another entity without directly 

giving approximately equal value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly 

receiving approximately equal value in exchange. Transfers are inflows of future economic benefits 

or service potential from non-exchange transactions, other than taxes.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade 

discounts and volume rebates.

Government Grants

Government Grants received by the NFVF relates to financial support that the Foundation receives 

as a Public Entity in order to carry out its mandate. All Government Grants are recognised in the 

Statement of Financial Performance for the year to which they relate.
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2.2.2 Revenue from Exchange Transactions   

An exchange transaction is one in which the NFVF receives assets or services, or has liabilities 

extinguished, and directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services 

or use of assets) to the other party in exchange. Exchange revenue is recognised when it is probable 

that future economic benefits will flow to the NFVF and when the amount can be measured reliably. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received. Fair value is the amount for 

which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in 

an arm’s length transaction.

   

Interest Revenue   

Interest is recognised, in surplus or loss, using the effective interest rate method. 

  

2.3 Plant and equipment   

Plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets that are held for use in the production or 

supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be 

used during more than one period. The cost of an item of property and equipment is recognized as 

an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the 

item will flow to the entity; and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

   

Plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. The cost of an item of property and equipment 

comprises:   

a. its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting 

trade discounts and rebates.   

b. any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for 

it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the 

carrying amount of another asset.   

Plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line method at rates which are estimated to 

write off each asset over its useful life, as follows

:   
      Useful life   Rate 

Computer hardware    3 - 7 years   14% - 33,33% p.a

Furniture and fittings    6 -10 years   10% - 16,67% p.a

Office equipment    6 years    16,67% p.a
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The useful lives of the assets is reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted if appropriate. 

Any change resulting from the review is treated as a change in accounting estimate. Depreciation 

commences when the asset is available for use. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 

item of property and equipment is included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognised. The 

gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property and equipment is determined as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item. Repairs and 

maintenance are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance when the expenditure is incurred.

   
2.4 Intangible assets   

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. An asset is 

identified as an intangible asset when it is capable of being separated or divided from an entity 

and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or together with a related 

contract, assets or liability; An intangible asset is recognised when It is probable that the future 

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the company, and the cost of the item can 

be measured reliably.   

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. 

Intangible assets are amortised over its estimated useful life, using the straight line method and is 

calculated to reduce the original costs to the expected residual values over the estimated useful lives

   

The amortisation rates are as follows:  Useful life   Rate 

Intangible assets    10 years   10,00% p.a

Computer software    2 - 5 years   20% - 50% p.a

Useful lives are assessed annually.   

2.5 Impairment of assets 
An impairment loss is an amount by which the carrying amount of an asset (i.e. the amount 
recognised on the Statement of Financial Position after deducting any accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment loss) exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an assets fair value less its cost to sell, and its value in use. Value in use is the present value 
of the future cashflows expected to be derived from an asset. 

At each reporting date the carrying value of property, equipment and intangible assets are assessed 
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets may have suffered an impairment 
loss. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss. Value in use is estimated taking into account future cashflows, 
forecast market conditions and the expected lives of the assets. 
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If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, its carrying 
amount is reduced to the higher of its recoverable amount and zero. Impairment losses are recognised 
in the Statement of Financial Performance. Subsequent to the recognition of an impairment loss, the 
depreciation or amortisation charge for the asset is adjusted to allocate its remaining useful life.
 
If an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but limited to the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

2.6 Non-current assets 
There were no major changes in the nature of the non-current assets of the NFVF, nor to its policy 
regarding its use during the year under review.
 
2.7 Financial instruments 
A financial instrument is defined as a contract that gives rise to a financial asset in one entity and 
a financial liability or equity instrument in another entity. Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised on the Statement of Financial Position when the NFVF becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial instruments recognised on the Statement of Financial Position 
and in the notes thereto are as follows:
 
Class     Category
Trade and other receivables  Financial asset measured at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents  Financial asset measured at fair value
Trade and other payables  Financial liability measured at fair value

Trade receivables 
Trade and other receivables are stated at the nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowances 
for estimated irrecoverable amounts. The carrying amount of these receivables approximate fair 
value due to the short period to maturity of these instruments. Trade and other receivables from 
exchange transactions are disclosed separately from trade and other receivables from non-exchange 
transactions. Trade and other receivables in exchange for which the entity gives approximately equal 
value to another entity are recognised as trade and other receivables from exchange transactions. 
Trade and receivables received without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange are 
recognised as trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and deposits held at banks. Cash and cash 
equivalents are initially and subsequently measured at fair value.
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Trade payables 
Trade and other payables are measured at fair value at initial recognition , and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the  effective interest rate method.
 
Impairment of financial instruments 
The NFVF assesses on each Statement of Financial Position date whether a financial asset of the 
Foundation is impaired. Impairments are made when there is objective evidence that cash flows 
from specific financial assets would not materialise. Cash flow values estimated not to materialise are 
impaired. The amount of the impairment is measured as the difference between the financial asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition. The amount of the impairment is recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance. 

Derecognition of financial instruments 
Financial assets 
Financial assets (or part thereof) are derecognised when the Foundation realises the rights to 
benefits specified in the contract, the right expires, or the NFVF surrenders or otherwise loses 
control of the contractual rights that comprise the financial asset. 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities (or part thereof) are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired 

Off-setting of financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off financial 
assets against financial liabilities and the financial instrument relate to the same foundation. 
2.8 Provisions
A provision is a liability of uncertain timing or amount. Provisions are recognised when the NFVF has 
a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that this will result in an outflow 
of economic benefits that can be estimated reliably. Provisions were raised and management 
determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional disclosure of these estimates 
of provisions are included in note 6.2 to the Annual Financial Statements. The amount of a provision 
is the present value of the amount expected to be required to settle the obligation. Contingent 
assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised as provisions as they do not comply with the 
recognition criteria. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses

2.8.1 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised but disclosed when identified.
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2.9 Taxation
No provision has been made for income tax as the NFVF is exempted in terms of section 10 of the 

Income Tax Act (Act No. 58 of 1962).

2.10 Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures are adjusted when material errors that been identified in the 

current year. The changes are done and disclosed and disclosed in accordance with GRAP.

2.11 Presentation currency
Amounts in the Annual Financial Statements are presented and disclosed in South African Rand, and 

are rounded to the nearest rand.

2.12 Employee Benefits
Short term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised during the period in which the employee renders the 

related service.

Defined contribution plans
The NFVF operates a defined retirement contribution plan for its employees and is not liable for any 

actuarial losses sustained by the fund. Accordingly, no provision has been made for any such losses 

and contributions paid are expensed. The organisation recognises a liability for annual bonuses  

(13th cheque). A liability for 13th cheque is accrued on a proportionate basis as services are rendered.

2.13 Related Parties
The NFVF is a Schedule 3(A) Public Entity that is ultimately owned and controlled by the South African 

government. All related party transaction that are entered into by the NFVF with any organization 

owned by SA government are disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements.

2.15 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure
Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a 

requirement of any applicable legislation, including the PFMA. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

means expenditure made in vain and could have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised. 

All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which 

they are incurred.

National Treasury practice note no. 4 of 2008/2009 which was issued in terms of sections 76(1) to 

76(4) of the PFMA requires the following (effective from 1 April 2008):
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Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and which was 

condoned before year end and/or before finalisation of the financial statements must be recorded 

appropriately in the irregular expenditure register. In such an instance, no further action is also 

required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during the current financial year and for which 

condonement is being awaited at year end must be recorded in the irregular expenditure register. 

No further action is required with the exception of updating the note to the financial statements.

Where irregular expenditure was incurred in the previous financial year and is only condoned in the 

following financial year, the register and the disclosure note to the financial statements must be 

updated with the amount condoned. Irregular expenditure that was incurred and identified during 

the current financial year and which was not condoned by the National Treasury or the relevant 

authority must be recorded appropriately in the irregular expenditure register.

2.16 Leases

A lease is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. The difference between the amounts is recognised as an expense and the 

contractual payment recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

2.17 Budget Information

The presentation of budget information was prepared in accordance with the best practice guidelines 

issued by National Treasury and is in line with the basis of accounting as per the GRAP Framework. 

The budget was approved by the Council and submitted to the executive authority in terms of 

section 53(1) of the PFMA, and covers the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. The budget and 

accounting basis are the same; both are on the accrual basis. The budget information is prepared 

using a classification on the nature of expenses in the Statement of Financial Performance.

2.18 Foreign exchange transactions

The NFVF does certain transactions in foreign currencies and prepares its financial statements on 

the accrual basis, and translates its AFS into a presentation currency. All transactions are effected on 

the closing rate i.e. the spot rate on the date of receipt of invoice. All foreign currency transactions 

are be recorded, on initial recognition in the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency 

amount the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate 

between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of transaction.

Annual Report Layout.indd   101 2019/08/27   15:32:16



NFVF ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019102

3. Plant and Equipment

R R R R

2019 Computer
hardware

Furniture &
fittings

Office
equipment Total

Cost as at 31 March 2019
Accumulated depreciation

3 643 353
(2 575 395)

6 382 825
(2 325 073)

404 715
(157 899)

10 430 893
(5 058 368)

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 1 067 958 4 057 751 246 816 5 372 525
 

R R R R

2019 Computer
hardware

Furniture &
fittings

Office
equipment Total

Carrying value at 1 April 2018
Assets written off
Cost
Accummulated depreciation
Additions
Depreciation

1 528 066
58 106

4 779 653
69 365

287 541
-

6 595 260
127 471

211 556
(153 451)

326 558
(257 193)

29 719
(29 719)

567 833
(440 363)

205 389
(607 391)

135 051
(787 588)

19 072
(59 797)

359 512
(1 454 776)

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 1 067 958 4 057 751 246 816 5 372 525
 

R R R R

2018 Computer
hardware

Furniture &
fittings

Office
equipment Total

Cost as at 31 March 2018 3 649 521 6 577 051 431 152 10 657 723

Accumulated depreciation (2 121 455) (1 919 978) (143 611) (4 185 043)

Carrying value at 31 March 2018 1 528 066 4 657 073 287 541 6 472 680

R R R R

2018 Computer
hardware

Furniture &
fittings

Office
equipment Total

Carrying value at 1 April 2017 2 299 579 2 314 689 169 923 4 784 191

Additions 50 446 3 101 382 173 305 3 325 133

Plant and equipment disposed (107 248) (97 584) 73 (204 759)

Cost (243 468) (254 968) 73 (498 363)

Accumulated depreciation 136 220 157 384 293 604

Disposal of plant and equipment

Depreciation (714 710) (661 415) (55 759) (1 431 884)

Carrying value at 31 March 2018 1 528 067 4 657 072 287 541 6 472 680

The total additions for the period amounted to R359,512 (2018: R3,325,133)
No impairments were made to property and equipment during the current financial year. Management 
has considered the impact of GRAP 17 on the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2019.
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The total additions for the year amounted to R171,812 (2018: R432,869). Management has reviewed 

the useful life of computer software and believe that the straight-line method of 2 - 5 years is 

still deemed to be a true reflection of the write-off period. The estimation of the useful life of 

computer software is based on historical performance as well as expectations about future use. The 

amortisation rate represents managements current best estimate of the useful life of the assets.

4. Intangible assets
This relates to the NFVF computer software, website and specialised software.

R R R R

2019 Website Computer
software

Specialised
Software Total

Cost as at 31 March 2019 867 484 4 679 252 171 992 5 718 728

Accumulated depreciation (570 843) (3 664 315) (122 307) (4 357 466)

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 296 641 1 014 937 49 685 1 361 262

R R R R

Reconciliation - 2019 Website Computer
software

Specialised
Software Total

Carrying value at 1 April 2018 386 217 1 932 132 67 029 2 385 379

Additions 171 812 171 812

Depreciation (89 576) (1 089 007) (17 345) (1 195 929)

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 296 641 1 014 937 49 684 1 361 262

R R R R

2018 Website Computer
software

Specialised
Software Total

Cost as at 31 March 2019 867 483 4 507 440 171 992 5 546 915

Accumulated depreciation (481 267) (2 575 308) (104 963) (3 161 537)

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 386 216 1 932 133 67 029 2 385 378

R R R R

Reconciliation - 2018 Website Computer
software

Specialised
Software Total

Carrying value at 1 April 2017

475 775

2 407 172

118 697

3 001 644

Additions 432 869 432 869

Plant and equipment disposed -

Cost (64 127) (64 127)

Accumulated depreciation 29 822 29 822

Disposal of plant and equipment
(89 559) (907 908)

(34 305) (34 305)

Depreciation (17 363) (1 014 829)

Carrying value at 31 March 2019 386 217 1 932 133 67 029 2 385 379
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5. Trade and other receivables

5.1 Trade receivables

2019

R

2018

R

5.1.1 Receivables from exchange transactions
South African Broadcasting Corporation 541 216

M-Net 1 273 039

MICT - SETA 50 70 000

Kunene Makopo Risk Solutions 180 000 -

KZN Film Commission 151 600 151 600
Ster Kinekor
Department of Arts and Culture 248 541

350 000
-

GE Media 1 150 000 2 822 120

Culture, Arts and Traditional Affairs - North West 500 000

South African Breweries 100 000

Caivil Hair 150 000

1 730 191 5 957 974

5.1.2 Other receivables
Recoverable amount from staff member 599 842 593 583
Cecil Nurse refund
Department of Arts & Culture - BRICS Film Festival 11 173 801 30 846

Less: Provision for bad debt

KZN Film Commission (151 600)

MICT - SETA (50)

Trade and other Receivables 13 352 184 6 582 403

None of the above trade receivables has been pledged as security or collateral for liabilities or 

contingent liabilities nor have any terms of any receivables been renegotiated. The carrying amount 

approximates fair value because of the short period to maturity.

Recoverable amount from staff member is the amount due by a former employee who committed 

fraudulent activity in the prior financial years. Management appointed a legal team to facilitate the 

repayment.
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5.2 Prepayments 2019 2018
R R

Magicode - 37 097
AGA - 88 202
SA Career Guide - 19 380
ALW - Rent 380 913

380 913 144 679
Prepayments relate to rent expense which was paid in March 
for the month of April.

     Restated
6.1 Trade and other payables from exchange transactions 2019 2018

R R
Trade payables 2 872 877 3 567 711
Other payables 1 470 648 126 024
Accrued expense - Liberty life 3 494 126 024
Accrued expense - Discovery 29 565
Accrued expense - Sundry Creditors 1 437 589

4 343 524 3 693 735

The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short period of settlement method. 
There were no defaults on any amounts payable nor were there any amounts renegotiated with 
suppliers of the NFVF. All trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on a 
30 day term. The prior year amount has been restated as a result of the identified prior year error.

6.2 Provisions 2019 2018
R R

6.2.1 Provision for Grants issued by NFVF
Opening balance as at 01 April 2018 77 986 726 72 320 279
New Grants issued (note 9) 93 147 580 115 538 182
Payments and reversals made during the year (76 770 224) (109 871 735)
Closing balance as at 31 March 2019 94 364 082 77 986 726

The Foundation issues Grants in the following categories: Training and bursaries; research and 
script development; production and distribution and marketing. The Grants have been approved by 
Council, but the timing of payments are dependant on projects / contract milestones being achieved 
by grant beneficiaries. Management determined calculations of current and non-current portions 
estimates based   on historical trend.

2019 2018
R R

6.2.2 Provision for leave pay
Opening balance as at 01 April 2018 725 663 683 336
Utilised during the year (421 259) (683 336)
Originated during the year 809 605 725 663
Closing balance as at 31 March 2019 1 114 009 725 663

A provision for leave is recognised for leave due to employees at period end and calculated using 
the BCEA rates. The provision is expected to be realised within the following financial year when the 
employees utilise the leave, resign or retire.
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2019 2018
R R

6.2.3 Provision for 13th cheque and Performance Bonus
Opening balance as at 01 April 2018 1 542 893 1 456 180
Utilised during the year (1 542 893) (1 456 180)
Originated during the year 2 077 017 1 542 893
Closing balance as at 31 March 2019 2 077 017 1 542 893
A provision for 13th cheque is recognised for the amount due to employees at year end.

Total Provisions 97 555 108 80 255 282
Current 49 715 294 40 899 088
Non-current 47 839 815 39 356 195
Non-current provisions relate to estimates for grant projects that have milestones which are due 
after the next financial year and hence are classified as non-current provisions.

2019 2018
7. Income received in advance from non exchange 
transactions R R

Department of Arts and Culture
Opening balance as at 01 April 2018 1 010 836 1 010 836
Utilised during the year - -
Closing balance as at 31 March 2019 1 010 836 1 010 836
Income received in advance relates to the funds received from Department of Arts and Culture 
(DAC) to identify potential sites and develop a business case for the establishment of Film Hubs. 
The funds can be used for future infrastructure projects with the approval of the DAC.

8. Revenue 2019 2019 2018
Approved

Actual Budget Actual
R R R

8.1 Revenue from Non Exchange Transactions 133 506 821 133 472 000 129 097 396
Department of Arts and Culture - annual allocation 133 382 000 133 472 000 129 052 000
National Treasury: Compliance Grant 90 000
MICT-SETA: Mandatory Grant 34 821 - 45 396

8.2 Revenue from Exchange Transactions 15 523 144 - 16 889 815
Namibian Film Commission - Youth Filmmaker 250 000 - 300 000
South African Broadcasting Corporation - 776 216
M-Net 640 000 - 1 273 039
GE Media 1 360 000 - 2 063 166
MICT - SETA 6 701 800 - 4 497 029
KZN Film Commission 394 460 - -
Ster Kinekor - 350 000
Kunene Makopo Risk Solution 80 000 - -
Duekom 396 202 - 818 599
Gauteng Film Commission 100 000 - -
Recoupments 160 319 - 1 261 766
South African Breweries - 100 000
Culture, Arts and Traditional Affairs - North West 5 000 000 - 5 000 000
Independent Development Corporation 440 363 - 300 000
Caivil Hair - 150 000

149 029 965 133 472 000 145 987 210
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Revenue received from exchange transactions relate mainly to sponsorships and partnership 
agreements with stakeholders for projects and NFVF events. The NFVF entered into partnership 
agreements with private sector companies. The MICT Seta is also one of NFVF’s partners in providing 
additional funding for bursaries and the internship programme.

8.3 Other Income 2019 2019 2018
Approved

Actual Budget Actual
R R R

Other 222 420 - 85 662

Other income includes recoveries from ex employees due to litigations.

Restated
2019 2019 2018

Actual Approved
Budget Actual

R R R
9.Grant expense
Training & bursaries 10 006 760 12 500 000 16 966 276
Development and production of content 46 174 316 48 300 000 46 316 424
Research projects 365 297 3 700 000 1 854 785
Local and global positioning 37 183 375 31 635 000 51 566 262

93 729 748 96 135 000 116 703 747

The prior year amount has been restated as a result of the identified prior year error.
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Note 2019 2019 2018
Approved

Actual Budget Actual
R R R

10.Operating expenses
Included in the operating expenses are  
the following:
Audit fees  - Internal 585 428 707 000 1 263 088
                  - External 720 308 827 000 813 821
Consulting services 504 932 400 000 635 558
Professional services - staff recruitment 380 370 250 000 396 594
Website expenses 124 562 150 000 238 965

Councillors’ services
Honorarium - Council meetings 17.1 967 154 1 448 000 1 845 991
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 & 4 2 650 705 1 897 000 2 446 713
Provision for bad debt 151 605 -

Rent - Buildings 4 050 863 4 029 000 4 028 537

Salaries and wages 10.2 23 377 203 26 406 000 23 519 076
Salaries and wages - Executive Management 17.2 7 861 459 - 7 768 568
Salaries and wages - other staff 15 515 744 - 15 750 508

Travel and accommodation 1 766 769 450 000 780 686
Printing and publication 194 372 514 000 98 735
Administration 5 485 933 2 155 000 2 180 566
Conferences and Catering 418 702 104 000 701 279
Advertising 70 783 312 000 -
Telephone & Fax 118 201 400 000 658 641
Equipment Hire 12 959 447 000 449 473
Computer Expenses 929 488 350 000 493 709
Electricity & Water 486 951 491 000 386 716

42 340 751 40 937 000 40 302 590

Salary costs are lower than budget due to vacant positions.

10.2 Salaries and wages 23 377 203 26 406 000 23 519 076
 Gross Salary 16 281 743 17 262 744
 Cellphone Allowance 148 800 208 190
 Medical Aid 1 332 955 1 083 106
 Provident Fund 2 178 863 1 523 231
 UIF 115 419 63 222
 Skills Development Levy 183 530 187 764
 Trade Unions 19 760
 Bonus 2 306 527 2 866 438
 Leave 809 605 324 381
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11. Prior Period Error

11.1. Global and Local Positioning

The NFVF has corrected its financial statements to comply with the requirement of GRAP 1 - 
Presentation of Financial Statements. For the year ended 31 March 2018, grant expenses to the 
amount of R1,165,565 were erroneously omitted and as a result not presented on the Statement of 
Financial Performanace for the year ended 31 March 2018. This has subsequently been corrected as 
a prior year error.

Restatement of Grant Expenses 2019 2018
Increase in Grant Expenses 1 165 565

Increase in deficit for the year 1 165 565

Restatement of net cash flow from operating activities

Increase in net cash flow from operating activities 1 165 565

Restatement of trade and other payables

Increase in trade and other payables 1 165 565

2019 2019 2018
Actual Approved Actual

12. Investment income
Interest income - Bank Deposits 3 592 586 3 600 000 3 641 086

2019 2018
R R

13. Reconciliation of net cash flow from operating activities to 
(deficit)/surplus
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year 16 774 471 (7 511 452)
Adjustments for non cash movements:
Depreciation and amortization on property, equipment 
and intangible assets 2 650 705 2 446 713

Asset write off 127 471 239 062
Increase in operating lease 272 310 421 407
Increase/(Decrease) in employee related provisions 922 471 129 040
(Decrease) in other provisions 16 377 356 5 666 447
Items shown separately on the face of the cash flow 
statement
Interest income (3 592 586) (3 641 086)
Changes in working capital:
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables (6 769 781) 8 762 718
(Increase) / Decrease in prepayments (361 533) (144 679)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 649 790 (1 871 822)
Net cash flows from operating activities 27 050 673 4 496 350
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NATIONAL FILM AND VIDEO FOUNDATION

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR 

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
2019 2018

R R
14. Cash and cash equivalents 94 110 761 63 996 142
First National Bank 42 569 822 16 030 902
Corporation for Public Deposits 51 538 939 47 963 240
Petty cash 2 000 2 000

Cash and cash equivalents earn interest at floating rates based on the daily bank deposits.

15. Lease arrangements
15.1 Operating lease commitments
As at 31 March, the NFVF had outstanding commitments which relates to an operating lease and 
falls due as follows:

2019 Up to 1 Year 2 - 5 years
Building 4 124 615 8 090 297

2018 Up to 1 Year 2 - 5 years

Building 3 751 146 12 108 696

The NFVF renewed its lease with ALW Estates for a further 5 year period (1 January 2017 to  
31 December 2021). The basis on which rent is charged by the lessor is per specified amounts and 
increases in the contract. The lease expenditure is straight-lined and charged to the Statement of 
Financial Performance. The lease expense for the year ended 31 March 2019 is R4 050 863 (2018: 
R4 028 537).

2019 2018
15.2 Operating lease liability R R
Short term portion of Operating Lease - Liability / 
(Asset) 859 429 587 119

Long term portion of Operating Lease - Liability - -
859 429 587 119

Equipment & Land and Buildings
The NFVF leases its equipment (photocopiers etc.) on a month to month basis and therefore there 
is no opearating lease liability.
Buildings are leased over a period of 5 years at monthly payments of R336 154,47
15.3 Rental Deposit 2019 2018

R R
Opening balance as at 01 April 2018 339 974 196 560
Additional Deposit - 143 414
Closing balance as at 31 March 2019 339 974 339 974

The NFVF leases its building from ALW Estates until 31 December 2021. The total deposit held by 
ALW will be refunded to the NFVF on termination of the lease if the lease is not renewed, which is 
also subject to terms and conditions of the contract.
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2019 2018
16. Irregular expenditure R R
Opening balance as at 01 April 2018 9 591 296 2 484 015
Irregular expenditure identified during the year - 7 107 281
- Renovations: Non-compliance with SCM 3 795 225
- Marketing contract: Non-compliance with SCM 1 676 405
- Tax Clearance Certificates - Non-compliance 
with SCM 552 411
- 2017/18 Financial Year - Overall Budget over-
spending as per Statement of Financial Position 1 083 240
Less: Condoned - -
Closing balance as at 31 March 2019 9 591 296 9 591 296

During 2017/18 NFVF incurred irregular expenditure of R1,676,405 relating to marketing services 
due to officials ordering and paying for goods/ services over and above the contract amount.

During 2017/18, there were two transactions that did not comply to the requirements of obtaining a 
valid SARS tax clearance. One transaction with another public entity had an expired tax clearance 
certificate at the time of transacting (R492 411) and the other relates to a celebrity appearance 
which was misinterpreted as not requiring a tax clearance certificate as they had not quoted as a 
company but as an individual (R60 000).

During 2016/17, NFVF incurred irregular expenditure of R1,890,432 relating to the office renovations 
project. This project continued during 2017/18 and additional irregular expenditure of R3,795 225 
was incurred. Council has commenced implementation of the findings of the forensic report that 
was commissioned by the Minister of Arts and Culture with regards to the various allegations of 
impropriety including renovations.

The Treasury Updated Guideline on Irregular Expenditure of 2015 requires that when Entities 
overspend on their Approved Budgets, such an overspending must be recognised as Irregular 
Expenditure in the notes to the financial statements. Excludes non-cash items.

17. Related parties

During the year, the NFVF entered into a related party transactions with the following
2019 2018

Amounts received from related parties Nature R R

Department of Arts and Culture Executive authority 133 382 000 129 052 000

Amounts due by related parties
Department of Arts and Culture Executive authority 11 173 801 -
Income in advance from related parties
Department of Arts and Culture Executive authority 1 010 836 1 010 836

The NFVF is an agency of the Department of Arts and Culture and receives its annual allocation as 
a Grant in order to fulfil its mandate in accordance with the NFVF Act.
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2019 2018
18. Disclosure of remuneration R R
18.1 Non Executive Honorarium - Council 
services: Current Council
Mr. Phillip Molefe (Chairperson) 140 117 223 564
Ms. Zimkhitha Zatu (Deputy Chairperson) 117 537 175 370
Ms. Pamela Mashiane (Resigned) 103 906 235 941
Mr. Thabiso Masudubele (Resigned) 61 297 271 121
Dr. Siphelo Ngcwangu 90 267 175 634
Mr. Jeremiah Mofokeng 125 553 137 733
Adv. Dimakatso Qocha 148 658 95 450
Mr. Shadrack Bokaba 10 479 147 440
Ms. Zanele Mthembu 110 826 121 811
Mr. K. Motsoane 23 738 -
Ms. Fikile Masiko - 20 958
Mr Mfundo Ntsibande - 13 972
Mr Lebohang Seperepere (Resigned) - 28 716
Mr. Delon Bekker (Resigned) - 74 492

Former Council - ended 30 April 2017 - 55 010

Audit Committee Members
Ms. Phuthanang Motsielwa 16 927 17 465
Ms. Lesego Sennelo 17 849 13 972
Siyakhula Vilakazi (Resigned) - 6 986
Shadrack Bokaba - 13 972
Mr Lebohang Seperepere (Resigned) - 6 986
Former Audit Committee (T Mjoli) - 9 398

967 154 1 845 991

Council members including sub-committees i.e. Audit, HR and Exco only receive honorariums for 
meetings attended.
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18.2 Executive Management salaries - 2019

R R R R R R

Basic 
Salary

13th 
Cheque & 

Performance 
Bonus

Allowances  
& Overtime

Leave Pay 
& Other 
Benefits

Employer 
Contributions Total

Chief Executive 
Officer - Z Mkosi 
(resigned)

251 178 41 863 3 000 112 085 36 626 444 752

Chief Executive 
Officer - S. Bokaba 1 282 263 15 000 1 297 263

Chief Financial 
Officer - N. Madlala 400 000 148 742 37 979 586 721

Chief Financial 
Officer - M. 
Buthelezi

1 010 687 56 062 9 000 127 431 1 203 179

Head: Marketing 
& Communication 
(resigned)

247 632 34 393 2 000 171 906 16 509 472 440

Head: Policy 
& Research 
(resigned)

140 399 23 400 1 000 438 351 16 509 619 659

Head: Corporate 
Services (resigned) 159 630 26 605 1 000 448 468 13 735 649 438

Head: Production & 
Development 1 225 661 175 663 12 000 163 472 1 576 795

Head: Operations 859 634 46 098 7 770 97 708 1 011 210

5 577 085 404 083 199 512 1 208 789 471 990 7 861 459
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Executive 
Management 
salaries - 2018 R R R R R R

Basic Salary 13th Cheque Allowances
Employer 

Contributions Total
Chief Executive 
Officer - Z Mkosi 1 507 067 125 589 18 000 363 193 2 013 850

Chief Financial 
Officer (resigned) 619 475 247 538 6 190 15 064 888 267

Head: Marketing 990 528 158 575 12 000 168 620 1 329 722

Head: Policy & 
Research 842 396 174 017 12 000 85 871 1 114 284

Head: Human 
Resources 957 782 191 371 12 000 192 479 1 353 632

Head: Production & 
Development 760 716 122 078 12 000 174 019 1 068 813

5 677 965 1 019 167 72 190 999 246 7 768 568

Executive Management is defined as employees who have the ability to direct and control the 
operations of the NFVF. The NFVF Executive Management only receive remuneration for salaries. 
No loans have been advanced to the Executive Management during the financial year.

19. Financial instruments

As at 31March 2019, the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables 
and trade and other payables approximate their fair values due to the short term maturities of 
these assets and liabilities as disclosed below:

Category 2019 2018
R R

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents Carrying value Cash and cash 

equivalents
Fair value 94 110 761 63 996 142

Trade and other receivables Carrying amount Trade and other 
receivables

Fair value 13 352 184 6 582 403

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables Carrying value Financial liabilities 4 343 524 2 528 169

Fair value 4 343 524 2 528 169

Non current provisions Carrying value Financial liabilities 47 839 815 39 356 195
Fair value 47 839 815 39 356 195

Current provisions Carrying value Financial liabilities 49 715 294 40 899 088

Fair value 49 715 294 40 899 088

Income received in advance Carrying value Financial liabilities 1 010 836 1 010 836

Fair value 1 010 836 1 010 836

Operating lease liability Carrying value Financial liabilities 859 429 587 119

Fair value 859 429 587 119
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20. Management of risk  
The Council is responsible for strategic risk-management within the NFVF and tasks the Audit 
Committee with ensuring effective risk management. The purpose of the NFVF risk-management 
strategy is to identify the risks and ensure that the overall risk profile remains at acceptable levels. 
The risk-management strategy provides reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that risks are being 
adequately managed. The NFVF risk policy sets out the minimum standards of risk management to 
be adopted and adhered to by all units within the NFVF. The risk-management strategy, which has 
been reviewed and updated in March 2016, contains processes for identifying both the impact and 
likelihood of such risk. Risks that have been identified as having a potentially severe impact on the 
NFVF are regarded as unacceptable and, where possible, will be avoided.
  

Management’s responsibilities  
Management is responsible for the identification, assessment and control of all key risks facing the 
NFVF, functions and to report on any material changes to the risk profile and any losses incurred 
as a result thereof. The Management Committee (MANCO) is required to monitor the status of risk 
within the NFVF and to report on any material changes to the risk profile and any losses incurred 
as a result thereof. Management is expected to put in place appropriate controls for these risks and 
provide assurance that such controls perform as intended.  

Financial risk profile  
Risk management relating to each of these risks is discussed under the headings below. The financial 
risk the NFVF primarily faces are market risk (interest rate risk), investment risk and credit risk. 
Management reviews and agrees on controls for managing these risks.  

20.1 Market risk management  
The NFVF activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. There 
has been no change to the NFVF exposure to market risk or the manner in which it manages and 
measures the risk.  

20.2 Interest rate risk management  
Interest rate risk arises primarily from NFVF investment strategy to ensure capital preservation in 
line with NFVF investment policy. As a result of this exposure to interest rate risk, NFVF manages the 
investments according to their  investment mandate. The nature of NFVF exposure to interest rate 
risk and its objectives, policies and procedures for managing interest rate risk have not changed 
significantly from the prior period.  

The NFVF’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the foundation’s 
cash and cash and cash equivalents with floating interest rates. Cash and cash equivalents attract 
interest at rates that vary with prime. The NFVF manages its interest rate risk so that fluctuations in 
variable rates do not have a material impact on the surplus/ (deficit) of the foundation. The NFVF is 
not exposed to significant interest rate risk as the foundation does not have any external funding, 
other than cash and cash equivalents with the bank.  

The following sets out the carrying amount of the NFVF’s cash and cash equivalents that are exposed 
to interest rate risk:  
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2018 2017

R R

Within 1 year 94 110 761 63 996 142
1 to 5 years - -

94 110 761 63 996 142

Sensitivity analysis

In terms of Treasury Regulation  31.3.3,   the NFVF must invest all of its surplus funds with the 
Corporation for Public Deposits. It  is estimated that increasing the amounts invested will result in 
more interest being earned in investment income in the Statement Financial Performance. As capital 
is applied in pursuit of NFVF mandate, the amount available will gradually diminish which will reduce 
the sensitivity to interest rates as the main fund diminishes over time.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity estimates to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates to cash and cash equivalents, with all other variables held constant, to the Foundation’s closing 
balance.

2019 2018

R R

Increase in interest rate of 1% 941 108 639 961

Decrease in interest rate of 0 .5 % (470 554) (319 981)

20.3 Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the NFVF. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 
amount of each financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position. The NFVF only transacts with 
various Institutions who have no independent rating. Other receivables consist mainly of recovery 
of funds. The NFVF does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty 
having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparty is the 
Corporation for Public Deposits. Government Departments have no independent rating, however 
based on historical experience and other factors none of the amounts due to the NFVF are impaired.

Receivables
All trade receivables are exposed to a low credit risk and no amounts are overdue.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and deposits are held with registered banking institution and are regarded as having insignificant 
credit risk. The Foundation has invested any surplus cash with the Corporation for Public Deposits. 
Foreign exchange rates are monitored and payments made on favourable rates.

Annual Report Layout.indd   116 2019/08/27   15:32:17



NFVF ANNUAL REPORT 2018/2019 117

Exposure to credit risk
2019

R

2018

R
Cash and cash equivalents 94 110 761 63 996 142
Trade and other receivables 13 352 184 6 582 403

The nature of NFVF exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
credit risk have not changed significantly from the prior period.

Cash and cash equivalents held with reputable financial institutions are used for investing and 
cash handling purposes. None of the amounts disclosed above have been pledged as security or 
collateral for liabilities or contingent liabilities nor have any amounts been renegotiated or have been 
defaulted on.

20.4 Liquidity risk
The NFVF’s risk to liquidity relates to the funds available to cover future commitments. The NFVF 
manages liquidity risk through ongoing review of future commitments. Cash flow forecasts are 
prepared regularly to monitor payables. The tables below summarises the maturity profile of the 
NFVF’s financial assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2019.

Financial Assets

Trade and other receivables %
2019

Carrying amount
2018

Carrying amount
Current 13,6 1 481 600 5 175 282
30-60 Days 0,0 -
60-90 Days 0,0 - -
Greater 90 days 86,4 12 022 234 1 407 121

100,0 13 503 834 6 582 403

NFVF does not have collateral or other credit enhancements for its credit risk exposure from financial 

assets during the current or prior year.

Financial Liabilities

months 3 -12 months 91-120 days 1 - 5 years Total

2019

4 343 524 - - 4 343 524Trade and other payables

Financial liability 4 343 524 - - - 4 343 524

2018

3 693 735 3 693 735Trade and other payables

Financial liability 3 693 735 - - - 3 693 735
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21. Commitments
CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

Already contracted for as at 31 March 2019 Contract end date 2019

R
Design digital film Distribution Platform for SA Content. 2020 1 029 981
Internal Audit Services 2020 395 668
Animation Training for High School Learners 2019 250 000
Managemnet of internal and external communications on 
behalf of NFVF 2020 1 014 462

2 690 111

22. Change of Accounting Estimate

The financial assets were assessed during the year. A change in accounting estimate was effected 
in relation to a debtor balance of R500 000 for Culture, Arts and Traditional Affairs - North West. 
Management assessed the debt to be irrecoverable and council approval was granted to write 
the debt off. The effect of the change in accounting estimate on the current year’s results was a 
decrease in the current year’s surplus by R500 000.

23. Subsequent Events

A significant event that occurred is that a new CEO, Ms Makhosazana Khanyile was appointed 
effective from 1 April 2019.

24. Segment Reporting

Management has considered the GRAP statement on segment reporting requirements and NFVF has 
not identifed any separately reportable segments in its operations.

25. Going Concern

The Council and Management of the Foundation are of the opinion that the organisation will continue 
as a going concern in the foreseeable future as it still has future grant support from the shareholder.
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